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(Former Name, Former Address and Former Fiscal Year, if Changed Since Last Report)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was
required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days.    Yes  ☒    No  ☐

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if
any, every Interactive Data File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T
(§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required
to submit and post such files).    Yes  ☒    No  ☐

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer,
or a smaller reporting company. See the definitions of “large accelerated filer”, “accelerated filer” and “smaller reporting
company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Large accelerated filer ☐ Accelerated filer ☒

Non-accelerated filer ☐ Smaller reporting company ☐
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange
Act.):    Yes  ☐    No  ☒

The number of shares of the registrant’s common stock, no par, outstanding at November 1, 2016 was 16,180,111
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PART 1—FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1—Financial Statements

MANITEX INTERNATIONAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(In thousands, except share and per share data)

September 30,

2016

December 31,

2015
Unaudited Unaudited

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash $ 6,019 $ 8,578
Trade receivables (net) 67,696 58,371
Accounts receivable from related party 770 388
Other receivables 4,575 3,158
Inventory (net) 106,992 106,544
Deferred tax asset 2,951 2,951
Prepaid expense and other 3,823 4,693
Current assets of discontinued operations — 18,017
Total current assets 192,826 202,700
Total fixed assets (net) 39,853 41,858
Intangible assets (net) 63,645 67,564
Goodwill 77,186 76,402
Other long-term assets 1,837 3,003
Non-marketable equity investment — 5,752
Long-term assets of discontinued operations — 6,879
Total assets $ 375,347 $ 404,158
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current liabilities
Notes payable—short term $ 42,175 $ 30,323
Current portion of capital lease obligations 831 1,004
Accounts payable 54,160 60,415
Accounts payable related parties 3,744 1,611
Accrued expenses 17,830 20,598
Other current liabilities 4,573 2,113
Current liabilities of discontinued operations — 3,972
Total current liabilities 123,313 120,036
Long-term liabilities
Revolving term credit facilities 36,753 38,872
Notes payable (net) 60,500 67,639
Capital lease obligations 5,606 5,850
Convertible note related party (net) 6,829 6,737
Convertible note (net) 14,048 13,923
Deferred gain on sale of property 1,087 1,288

Edgar Filing: Manitex International, Inc. - Form 10-Q

5



Deferred tax liability 4,438 4,525
Other long-term liabilities 6,776 7,763
Long-term liabilities of discontinued operations — 7,225
Total long-term liabilities 136,037 153,822
Total liabilities 259,350 273,858
Commitments and contingencies
Equity
Preferred Stock—Authorized 150,000 shares, no shares issued or outstanding at
September 30, 2016 and

   December 31, 2015 — —
Common Stock—no par value 25,000,000 shares authorized, 16,138,163 and 16,072,100
shares issued and

   outstanding at September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, respectively 93,775 93,186
Paid in capital 3,036 2,630
Retained (earnings) deficit (4,296 ) 16,588
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (2,823 ) (5,392 )
Equity attributable to shareholders of Manitex International, Inc. 89,692 107,012
Equity attributable to noncontrolling interests 26,305 23,288
Total equity 115,997 130,300
Total liabilities and equity $ 375,347 $ 404,158

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements

2
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MANITEX INTERNATIONAL, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(In thousands, except for share and per share amounts)

Three Months Ended

September 30,

Nine Months Ended

September 30,
2016 2015 2016 2015
Unaudited Unaudited Unaudited Unaudited

Net revenues $74,131 $84,476 $260,706 $276,812
Cost of sales 62,476 68,660 216,953 225,454
Gross profit 11,655 15,816 43,753 51,358
Operating expenses
Research and development costs 1,238 1,109 3,911 3,935
Selling, general and administrative expenses 11,378 12,749 37,778 38,936
Total operating expenses 12,616 13,858 41,689 42,871
Operating (loss) income (961 ) 1,958 2,064 8,487
Other income (expense)
Interest expense:
Interest expense (2,667 ) (2,553 ) (8,719 ) (8,871 )
Interest expense related to write off of debt issuance costs
(Note 13) — — (1,439 ) —
Foreign currency transaction (loss) gain (103 ) (97 ) (792 ) 190
Other income (expense) 2 (59 ) 3,109 (66 )
Total other expense (2,768 ) (2,709 ) (7,841 ) (8,747 )
(Loss) before income taxes and loss in non-marketable
equity interest from

   continuing operations (3,729 ) (751 ) (5,777 ) (260 )
Income tax (benefit) expense from continuing operations (3,813 ) (175 ) 453 (65 )
Loss in non-marketable equity interest, net of taxes (5,673 ) (40 ) (5,752 ) (119 )
Net loss from continuing operations (5,589 ) (616 ) (11,982 ) (314 )
Discontinued operations
(Loss) income from operations of discontinued operations
(Note 19) (9,987 ) 1,092 (8,522 ) 1,234
Income tax expense (benefit) 4,688 228 (186 ) 302
(Loss) income on discontinued operations (14,675 ) 864 (8,336 ) 932
Net (loss) income (20,264 ) 248 (20,318 ) 618
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests (294 ) (23 ) (566 ) (495 )
Net (loss) income attributable to shareholders of Manitex

   International, Inc.` $(20,558 ) $225 $(20,884 ) $123
Earnings (loss) Per Share
Basic
Loss from continuing operations attributable to
shareholders of

$(0.36 ) $(0.04 ) $(0.78 ) $(0.05 )
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   Manitex International, Inc.
(Loss) earnings from discontinued operations attributable
to

   shareholders of Manitex International, Inc. $(0.91 ) $0.05 $(0.52 ) $0.06
(Loss) earnings attributable to shareholders of Manitex

   International, Inc. $(1.27 ) $0.01 $(1.30 ) $0.01
Diluted
Loss from continuing operations attributable to
shareholders of

   Manitex International, Inc. $(0.36 ) $(0.04 ) $(0.78 ) $(0.05 )
(Loss) income from discontinued operations attributable to

   shareholders of Manitex International, Inc. $(0.91 ) $0.05 $(0.52 ) $0.06
(Loss) earnings attributable to shareholders of Manitex

   International, Inc. $(1.27 ) $0.01 $(1.30 ) $0.01
Weighted average common shares outstanding
Basic 16,127,346 16,014,594 16,119,578 15,955,025
Diluted 16,127,346 16,014,594 16,119,578 15,955,025

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements

3
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MANITEX INTERNATIONAL, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

(In thousands)

Three Months Ended

September 30,

Nine Months Ended

September 30,
2016 2015 2016 2015
Unaudited Unaudited Unaudited Unaudited

Net (loss) income: $(20,264) $ 248 $(20,318) $ 618
Other comprehensive income (loss)
Foreign currency translation adjustments 1,481 (348 ) 2,569 (2,888 )
Comprehensive (loss) (18,783) (100 ) (17,749) (2,270 )
Comprehensive (income) attributable to noncontrolling interests (294 ) (23 ) (566 ) (495 )
Total comprehensive (loss) attributable to shareholders of Manitex

   International, Inc. $(19,077) $ (123 ) $(18,315) $ (2,765 )

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements

4
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MANITEX INTERNATIONAL, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In thousands)

Nine Months Ended

September 30,
2016 2015
Unaudited Unaudited

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net (loss) income $(20,318) $ 618
Adjustments to reconcile net (loss) income to cash used for operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 8,886 8,972
Loss on sale of discontinued operation 9,050 —
Changes in allowances for doubtful accounts 117 1
Changes in inventory reserves 920 631
Revaluation of contingent acquisition liability (915 ) —
Write down of goodwill 275 —
Deferred income taxes (193 ) (52 )
Amortization and write off of deferred debt issuance costs (Note 13) 2,333 777
Amortization of debt discount 405 510
Change in value of interest rate swaps (778 ) (730 )
Loss in non-marketable equity interest 5,752 119
Share-based compensation 900 1,167
Adjustment to deferred gain on sales and lease back (124 ) —
Gain on disposal of assets (2,236 ) (115 )
Reserves for uncertain tax provisions 48 18
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
(Increase) decrease in accounts receivable (11,622) 14,086
(Increase) decrease in inventory (4,410 ) (6,623 )
(Increase) decrease in prepaid expenses 884 (3,002 )
(Increase) decrease in other assets 194 93
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable (5,270 ) (2,926 )
Increase (decrease) in accrued expense (3,111 ) (4,868 )
Increase (decrease) in income tax payable on ASV conversion — (16,500 )
Increase (decrease) in other current liabilities 2,379 161
Increase (decrease) in other long-term liabilities (251 ) 2,580
Discontinued operations - cash provided by (used for) operating activities 1,509 (391 )
Net cash used for operating activities (15,576) (5,474 )

Cash flows from investing activities:

Acquisition of business, net of cash acquired — (13,747 )
Proceeds from the sale of discontinued operations 14,000 —
Proceeds from the sale of fixed assets 187 243
Proceeds from the sale of intellectual property (Note 17) 2,205 —
Purchase of property and equipment (1,611 ) (1,884 )
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Investment in intangibles other than goodwill (103 ) (204 )
Discontinued operations - cash used for investing activities 157 (68 )
Net cash provided by (used for) investing activities 14,835 (15,660 )
Cash flows from financing activities:
(Repayments) borrowing on revolving term credit facilities (10,709) 5,605
Net borrowings on working capital facilities 13,255 (3,469 )
New borrowings—convertible notes — 15,000
New borrowings—term loan — 14,000
New borrowings—other 757 4,662
Investment from noncontrolling interest 2,450 —
Debt issuance costs incurred (981 ) (1,149 )
Note payments (10,980) (11,026 )
Shares repurchased for income tax withholding on share-based compensation (55 ) (3 )
Proceeds from sale and lease back (Note 13) 4,080 —
Payments on capital lease obligations (417 ) (1,324 )
Discontinued operations - cash used for financing activities (919 ) (262 )
Net cash (used for) provided by financing activities (3,519 ) 22,034
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (4,260 ) 900
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash 1,701 (824 )
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 8,578 4,370
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $6,019 $ 4,446

See Note 2 for supplemental cash flow disclosures

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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MANITEX INTERNATIONAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

(In thousands, except share and per share data)

Note 1. Nature of Operations

The Company is a leading provider of engineered lifting solutions. The Company operates in three business segments:
the Lifting Equipment segment, the ASV segment and the Equipment Distribution segment.

Lifting Equipment Segment

The Company is a leading provider of engineered lifting solutions. The Company designs, manufactures and
distributes a diverse group of products that serve different functions and are used in a variety of industries. Through its
Manitex, Inc. subsidiary it markets a comprehensive line of boom trucks, truck cranes and sign cranes. Manitex’s boom
trucks and crane products are primarily used for industrial projects, energy exploration and infrastructure
development, including, roads, bridges and commercial construction. Badger Equipment Company (“Badger”) is a
manufacturer of specialized rough terrain cranes and material handling products. Badger primarily serves the needs of
the construction, municipality and railroad industries.

PM Group S.p.A. (“PM”) is a leading Italian manufacturer of truck mounted hydraulic knuckle boom cranes with a
50-year history of technology and innovation, and a product range spanning more than 50 models. Its largest
subsidiary, Oil & Steel, S.p.A (“O&S”), is a manufacturer of truck-mounted aerial platforms with a diverse product line
and an international client base.

CVS Ferrari, srl (“CVS”) designs and manufactures a range of reach stackers and associated lifting equipment for the
global container handling market, that are sold through a broad dealer network. The Valla product line offers a full
range of precision pick and carry cranes from 2 to 90 tons, using electric, diesel, and hybrid power options. Its cranes
offer wheeled or tracked and fixed or swing boom configurations, with special applications designed specifically to
meet the needs of its customers.

Manitex Sabre, Inc.(“Sabre”) manufactures a comprehensive line of specialized mobile tanks for liquid and solid storage
and containment solutions with capacities from 8,000 to 21,000 gallons. Its mobile tanks are sold to specialized
independent tank rental companies and through the Company’s existing dealer network. The tanks are used in a variety
of end markets such as petrochemical, waste management and oil and gas drilling.  On March 12, 2015, the Company
acquired certain assets of Columbia Tank and merged its operations with Sabre.  

ASV Segment

A.S.V., LLC (“ASV”) manufactures a line of high quality compact track and skid steer loaders. The products are used in
the site clearing, general construction, forestry, golf course maintenance and landscaping industries, with general
construction being the largest market. The ASV products are distributed through the Terex distribution channels as
well as through the Company and other independent dealers. The Company has a 51% ownership interest in ASV.

Equipment Distribution Segment

The Equipment Distribution segment consists of two of the Company’s subsidiaries, Crane and Machinery, Inc.
(“C&M”) and Crane and Machinery Leasing, Inc. (“C&M Leasing”).  C&M is a distributor of Terex rough terrain and
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truck cranes products as well as Manitex’s own products.  C&M offers equipment repair services in the Chicago area
and supplies repair parts for a wide variety of medium to heavy duty construction equipment both domestically and
internationally. C&M also markets previously-owned construction and heavy equipment and trailers both domestically
and internationally. C&M purchases previously owned equipment of various ages and conditions and often refurbishes
the equipment before resale.

C&M Leasing rents equipment manufactured by the Company as well as a limited amount of equipment manufactured
by third parties.   C&M Leasing has recently expanded its rental fleet substantially.  Previously, the Company’s rental
operations were centered in the Chicago region.  With the expansion of the rental fleet, C&M Leasing is expanding its
rental territory with a goal of having a national presence.  

Discontinued Operations

Manitex Load King, LLC (“Load King”) manufactured specialized custom trailers and hauling systems typically used
for transporting heavy equipment. Load King trailers served niche markets in the commercial construction, railroad,
military and equipment rental industries through a dealer network.  Load King was sold on December 28, 2015 and is
presented as a discontinued operation.

6
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Manitex Liftking ULC (“Manitex Liftking” or “Liftking”) sold a complete line of rough terrain forklifts, a line of stand-up
electric forklifts, cushioned tiered forklifts with lifting capacities from 18 thousand to 40 thousand pounds and special
mission oriented vehicles, as well as other specialized carriers, heavy material handling transporters and steel mill
equipment.  The Company’s Liftking subsidiary was sold on September 30, 2016, and is presented as a discontinued
operation.    

2. Basis of Presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements, included herein, have been prepared by the Company without
audit pursuant to the rules and regulations of the United States Securities and Exchange Commission. Pursuant to
these rules and regulations, certain information and footnote disclosures normally included in financial statements
which are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America have
been omitted. In the opinion of management, the accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements reflect all
adjustments (consisting only of normal recurring accruals, except as otherwise disclosed) necessary for a fair
presentation of the Company’s financial position as of September 30, 2016, and results of its operations and cash flows
for the periods presented. The consolidated balances as of December 31, 2015 were derived from audited financial
statements but do not include all disclosures required by generally accepted accounting principles. The accompanying
consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting standards for interim financial
statements and should be read in conjunction with the Company’s audited consolidated financial statements and the
notes thereto for the year ended December 31, 2015. For further information, refer to the consolidated financial
statements and footnotes thereto included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2015. The results of operations for the interim periods are not necessarily indicative of the results of
operations expected for the year.

Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Accounts receivable are stated at the amounts the Company’s customers are invoiced and do not bear interest.
Accounts Receivable is reduced by an allowance for amounts that may become uncollectible in the future. The
Company’s estimate for the allowance for doubtful accounts related to trade receivables includes evaluation of specific
accounts where the Company has information that the customer may have an inability to meet its financial obligations.
The Company had allowances for doubtful accounts of $352 and $228 at September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015,
respectively.

Inventory Valuation

Inventory consists of stock materials and equipment stated at the lower of cost (first in, first out) or market. All
equipment classified as inventory is available for sale. The Company records excess and obsolete inventory reserves.
The estimated reserve is based upon specific identification of excess or obsolete inventories. Selling, general and
administrative expenses are expensed as incurred and are not capitalized as a component of inventory.

Accrued Warranties

Warranty costs are accrued at the time revenue is recognized. The Company’s products are typically sold with a
warranty covering defects that arise during a fixed period of time. The specific warranty offered is a function of
customer expectations and competitive forces. The Equipment Distribution segment does not accrue for warranty
costs at the time of sales, as they are reimbursed by the manufacturers for any warranty that they provide to their
customers.
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A liability for estimated warranty claims is accrued at the time of sale. The liability is established using historical
warranty claim experience. Historical warranty experience is, however, reviewed by management. The current
provision may be adjusted to take into account unusual or non-recurring events in the past or anticipated changes in
future warranty claims. Adjustments to the initial warranty accrual are recorded if actual claim experience indicates
that adjustments are necessary. Warranty reserves are reviewed to ensure critical assumptions are updated for known
events that may impact the potential warranty liability.

Revenue Recognition

Revenue and related costs are recognized when title passes and risk of loss passes to our customers which generally
occurs upon shipment depending upon the terms of the contract.  Under certain contracts with our customers title
passes to the customers when the units are completed. The units are segregated from our inventory and identified as
belonging to the customer, the customer is notified that the units are complete and awaiting pick up or delivery as
specified by the customer before income is recognized. Additionally, the customer is requested to sign an “Invoice
Authorization Form” which acknowledges the contract terms and acknowledges that the customer has economic
ownership and control over the unit. It also acknowledges that we are going to invoice the unit per terms of the
contract. The Company insures any custodial risk that it may retain.

7
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For FOB contracts, customers may be invoiced prior to the time customers take physical possession. Revenue is
recognized in such cases only when the customer has a fixed commitment to purchase the units, the units have been
completed, tested and made available to the customer for pickup or delivery, and the customer has authorized in
writing that we hold the units for pickup or delivery at a time specified by the customer. In such cases, the units are
invoiced under our customary billing terms, title to the units and risks of ownership pass to the customer upon
invoicing, the units are segregated from our inventory and identified as belonging to the customer and we have no
further obligations under the order. The Company insures any custodial risk that it may retain.

In addition, our policy requires in all instances certain minimum criteria be met in order to recognize revenue,
specifically:

a)Persuasive evidence that an arrangement exists;
b) The price to the buyer is fixed or

determinable;
c)Collectability is reasonably assured; and
d)We have no significant obligations for future performance.
Interest Rate Swap Contracts—The Company enters into derivative instruments to manage its exposure to interest rate
risk related to certain foreign term loans. Derivatives are initially recognized at fair value at the date the contract is
entered into and are subsequently remeasured to their fair value at the end of each reporting period. The resulting gain
or loss is recognized in current earnings immediately unless the derivative is designated and effective as a hedging
instrument, in which case the effective portion of the gain or loss is recognized and is reported as a component of
other comprehensive income and reclassified into earnings in the same period or periods during which the hedging
instrument affects earnings (date of sale). The Company’s interest rate swap contracts are held by the PM Group and
are intended to manage the exposure to interest rate risk related to certain term loans that PM has with certain
financial institutions in Italy. These contracts have been determined not to be hedge instruments under ASC 815-10.

Litigation Claims

In determining whether liabilities should be recorded for pending litigation claims, the Company must assess the
allegations and the likelihood that it will successfully defend itself. When the Company believes it is probable that it
will not prevail in a particular matter, it will then make an estimate of the amount of liability based, in part, on the
advice of legal counsel.

Income Taxes

The Company’s provision for income taxes consists of U.S. and foreign taxes in amounts necessary to align the
Company’s year-to-date tax provision with the effective rate that the Company expects to achieve for the full year.
Each quarter the Company updates its estimate of the annual effective tax rate and records cumulative adjustments as
necessary. The effective tax rate is based upon the Company’s anticipated earnings both in the U.S. and in foreign
jurisdictions.

Comprehensive Income

Reporting “Comprehensive Income” requires reporting and displaying comprehensive income and its components.
Comprehensive income includes, in addition to net earnings, other items that are reported as direct adjustments to
stockholder’s equity. Currently, the comprehensive income adjustment required for the Company has two components.
First is a foreign currency translation adjustment, the result of consolidating its foreign subsidiaries. The second
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component is a derivative instrument fair market value adjustment (net of income taxes) related to forward currency
contracts designated as a cash flow hedge.

Business Combinations

The Company accounts for acquisitions in accordance with guidance found in ASC 805, Business Combinations. The
guidance requires consideration given, including contingent consideration, assets acquired and liabilities assumed to
be valued at their fair market values at the acquisition date. The guidance further provides that: (1) in-process research
and development will be recorded at fair value as an indefinite-lived intangible asset; (2) acquisition costs will
generally be expensed as incurred, (3) restructuring costs associated with a business combination will generally be
expensed subsequent to the acquisition date; and (4) changes in deferred tax asset valuation allowances and income
tax uncertainties after the acquisition date generally will affect income tax expense.

ASC 805 requires that any excess of purchase price over fair value of assets acquired, including identifiable
intangibles and liabilities assumed be recognized as goodwill. In accordance with ASC 805, any excess of fair value
of acquired net assets, including identifiable intangibles assets, over the acquisition consideration results in a bargain
purchase gain. Prior to recording a gain, the

8
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acquiring entity must reassess whether all acquired assets and assumed liabilities have been identified and recognized
and perform re-measurements to verify that the consideration paid, assets acquired and liabilities assumed have been
properly valued.

The results for PM Group and Columbia Tank are included in the Company’s results from their respective dates of
acquisition of January 15, 2015 and March 12, 2015, respectively.

Reclassification

Certain reclassifications have been made to the prior year’s consolidated financial statements to conform to the current
year’s presentation.

In conjunction with the adoption of new accounting standards, certain debt issuance costs at December 31, 2015, have
been reclassified to conform to the current year’s presentation.

Supplemental Cash Flow Disclosures

Interest received and paid, income tax refunds received and income taxes paid and non-cash transactions for the
periods ended September 30, 2016 and 2015 were as follows:

Nine Months
Ended

September 30,
2016 2015

Interest received in cash 36 23
Interest paid in cash 7,474 7,584
Income tax (refunds) payments in cash (910 ) 1,450

Non cash transactions
Issuance of common stock in connection with Terex

   note repayment (Note 7) 150 —
Issuance of stock in connection with PM acquisition

   (Note 3) — 10,124

Edgar Filing: Manitex International, Inc. - Form 10-Q

18



3. Acquisitions

PM Group

On July 21, 2014 Manitex International, Inc. (the “Company”) entered into a series of agreements to acquire PM Group
S.p.A, (“PM Group”), a manufacturer of truck mounted cranes based in San Cesario sul Panaro, Modena, Italy. On
January 15, 2015, the Company’s acquisition of PM closed.

The fair value of the purchase consideration is shown below:

Cash €17,142 $20,312
994,483 shares of Manitex International, Inc. 8,710 10,124
Total purchase consideration €25,852 $30,436

9
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In accordance ASC 805, Business Combinations, the assets acquired and liabilities assumed are valued based on their
estimated fair values as of the date of the acquisition. The Company engaged a valuation expert and a tax advisor to
provide guidance and assistance to management which was considered and in part relied upon in completing its
purchase price allocation. The excess of the purchase price over the aggregate estimated fair value of net assets
acquired was allocated to goodwill. The following table summarizes the revised allocation of the PM acquisition
consideration to the fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition:

Purchase price allocation:

Cash invested in PM €5,994 $6,965
Trade receivables 18,795 22,215
Inventory 20,088 23,743
Other receivables and prepaid expenses 3,746 4,428
Total fixed assets 14,342 16,952
Customer relationships 10,841 12,813
Trade name and trademarks 5,850 6,914
Patented & Unpatented Technology 7,657 9,050
Goodwill 25,528 30,173
Deferred net tax assets 9,195 10,867
Other long term assets 2 2
Accounts payable (22,020) (26,026)
Accrued expenses and accruals (7,343 ) (8,679 )
Other current liabilities (1,188 ) (1,404 )
Deferred tax liability (11,595) (13,705)
Other long-term liabilities (2,973 ) (3,514 )
Assumed non-recourse debt (51,067) (60,358)
Net assets acquired €25,852 $30,436

Contingent Liability . In accordance with ASC 805, the acquirer is to recognize the acquisition date fair value of
contingent liability. The Company entered into an Option Agreement with one of the PM Group senior banks under
which the bank will sell to the Company PM debt with a face value of €5,000. Under the Option Agreement, the bank
shall receive €2,500 if PM has 2017 EBITDA, as defined in the agreement, of between €14,500 and €16,500, and €5,000 if
2017 EBITDA exceeds €16,500. If 2017 EBITDA, as defined in the agreement, is less than €14,500, the bank is to sell
the debt to the Company for €0.001. Given the disparity between the EBITDA threshold and the Company’s projected
financial results, it was determined that a Monte Carlo simulation analysis was appropriate to determine the fair value
of contingent consideration. The probability weighted average payment was determined to be €1,093 or $1,270 at the
date of acquisition.   This amount is included in other long-term liabilities in the above table.

Non-recourse PM debt: Under the transaction, PM remains obligated for the following debt:

Term debt—interest bearing €22,956 $27,133
Term debt—non-interest bearing 10,289 12,161
Fair market adjustment for non-interest bearing debt (1,460 ) (1,726 )
Working capital borrowing 18,827 22,252
Interest rate swap derivative contract 1,720 2,033
Debt issuance costs (1,265 ) (1,495 )
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Total assumed non-recourse debt €51,067 $60,358

Non-interest bearing debt . In connection with the acquisition, the Company assumed non-interest bearing debt of
€10,289. The fair value of the non-interest bearing debt was determined to be €8,829 or $10,435. The fair value of the
non-interest bearing debt was calculated to equal the present value of future debt payments discounted at a market rate
of return commensurate with similar debt instruments with comparable levels of risk and marketability. A rate of
5.24% was determined to be the appropriate rate following an assessment of the risk inherent in the debt issued and
the market rate for debt of this nature using corporate credit ratings.

The interest rate swap derivative was valued at its fair value, which is based on quotes from a financial institution.

10
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Tangible assets and liabilities: The tangible assets and liabilities were valued at their respective carrying values by
PM, except for certain adjustments necessary to state such amounts at their estimated fair values at the acquisition
date. Significant fair market adjustments were made to decrease accounts receivable by $260, increase inventory by
$911, decrease fixed assets by $4,699 and to decrease liabilities by $345.

Intangible assets: There are three fundamental methods applied to value intangible assets outlined in FASB ASC 820.
These methods include the Cost Approach, the Market Approach, and the Income Approach. Each of these valuation
approaches were considered in our estimation of value.

Trade names and trademarks, patented and unpatented technology: Valued using the Relief from Royalty method, a
form of both the Market Approach and the Income Approach. Because the Company has established trade names and
trademarks and has developed patented and unpatented technology, we estimated the benefit of ownership as the relief
from the royalty expense that would need to be incurred in absence of ownership.

Customer relationships: Because there is a specific earnings stream that can be associated with customer relationships,
we determined the fair value of these relationships based on the excess earnings method, a form of the Income
Approach.

Goodwill: Goodwill represents the excess of total consideration paid over the fair value of net assets acquired. The
recognition of goodwill of $30,173 reflects the inherent value in the PM reputation, which has been built since being
founded in 1959 and the prospects for significant future earnings.

In calculating the Company’s deferred tax liabilities the fact that goodwill is not deductible was considered.

Acquisition transaction costs: Cost and expenses related to the acquisition have been expensed as incurred and
recorded in selling, general and administrative expenses. The Company incurred fees of $194 for legal services, $750
for acquisition related bonus payments, $347 for accounting services in connection with the prior year audit of PM
financial statements and $294 for other costs related to the acquisition.

The results of the acquired PM operations have been included in our consolidated statement of operations since the
acquisition date. PM is included in the Lifting segment for segment reporting purposes.

Columbia Tanks

On March 12, 2015 the Company’s subsidiary, Manitex Sabre, entered into an inventory purchase agreement and an
equipment purchase agreement with Columbia Tanks LLC, an Indiana company and J.F. Henry, the “Member”, for the
purchase of inventory and used manufacturing equipment. In a separate agreement with F.H. Associates, the Company
entered into a three year lease of a 99,000 square foot manufacturing facility at an annual rent commencing at $240
per annum and increasing to $270 and $300 for the second and third years, respectively.  The lease was terminated in
September of 2016.

The fair value of the purchase consideration was $1,214 in total as shown below:

Cash $400
Seller notes 814
Total purchase consideration $1,214
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Seller Note . In connection with the inventory and equipment purchases, the Company issued two non-interest bearing
notes for $450 and $390 that matured on August 31, 2016 and May 31, 2016, respectively. These two notes were fully
paid at the maturity date. The fair value of Inventory Note and the Equipment Note was determined to be $436 and
$378. The fair value of the notes was calculated to equal the present value of future debt payments discounted at a
market rate of return commensurate with similar debt instruments with comparable levels of risk and marketability. A
rate of 4.0% was determined to be the appropriate rate following an assessment of the risk inherent in the debt issued
and the market rate for debt of this nature using corporate credit ratings.

Under the acquisition method of accounting, in accordance ASC 805, Business Combinations, the assets acquired and
liabilities assumed are valued based on their estimated fair values as of the date of the acquisition. The purchase price
allocation is preliminary and is subject to final review of inventory, fixed assets and related intangibles.
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The following table summarizes the allocation of the Columbia acquisition consideration to the fair value of the assets
acquired:

Purchase price allocation:

Inventory $686
Equipment 528

$1,214

Tangible and Intangible Assets and Liabilities: The tangible assets were valued at their respective purchase price.
Management has determined that the amount paid to acquire the assets approximates the fair value of the assets
acquired.

4. Financial Instruments—Forward Currency Exchange Contracts and Interest Rate Swap Contracts

The following tables set forth the Company’s financial assets and liabilities that were accounted for at fair value on a
recurring and nonrecurring basis as of September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015 by level within the fair value
hierarchy. As required by ASC 820-10, financial assets and liabilities are classified in their entirety based on the
lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement.

The following is summary of items that the Company measures at fair value on a recurring basis except as noted:

Fair Value at September 30,
2016
Level
1 Level 2

Level
3 Total

Liabilities:
Forward currency exchange contracts $—$8 $— $8
Interest rate swap contracts — 435 — 435
PM contingent liabilities — — 336 336
Valla contingent consideration — — 206 206
Total recurring long-term liabilities at fair value $—$443 $542 $985

Fair Value at December 31,
2015
Level
1 Level 2

Level
3 Total

Assets:
Forward currency exchange contracts (1) $—$600 $— $600
Total current assets at fair value $—$600 $— $600
Liabilities:
Forward currency exchange contracts (2) $—$74 $— $74
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Interest rate swap contracts — 1,177 — 1,177
PM contingent liabilities — — 1,187 1,187
Convertible debt- Perella  ( See Note 14) (nonrecurring) — 14,286 — 14,286
Valla contingent consideration — — 199 199
Total liabilities at fair value $—$15,537 $1,386 $16,923

(1)Includes forward currency contracts held by Liftking, a discontinued operation with a fair market value of $8.
(2)The foreign currency forward contracts liability of $74 is held by Liftking, a discontinued operation.

In connection with the acquisition of PM, the Company recorded a contingent liability related to an Option Agreement
with one of PM’s senior lenders.  The agreement calls for a payment to be made to the lender based on PM’s 2017
EBITDA.  It was determined that Monte Carlo simulation analysis is the appropriate way to determine the fair market
value of the contingent liability.  At June 30, 2016, the fair value was determined to be $330, and as result, a gain of
$915 was recognized, which represents the difference between the updated fair value and the existing carrying value
(including previous exchange rate adjustments).  It was determined that the fair market value has not changed between
June 30, 2016 and September 30, 2016.
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Fair Value Measurements

ASC 820-10 classifies the inputs used to measure fair value into the following hierarchy:

Level 1 —Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets that are accessible at the measurement date for identical,
unrestricted assets or liabilities;

Level 2 —Quoted prices in markets that are not active, or inputs which are observable, either directly or indirectly, for
substantially the full term of the asset or liability; and

Level 3 —Prices or valuation techniques that require inputs that are both significant to the fair value measurement and
unobservable (i.e., supported by little or no market activity).

Fair value of the forward currency contracts are determined on the last day of each reporting period using observable
inputs, which are supplied to the Company by the foreign currency trading operation of its bank and are Level 2 items.

5. Derivatives Financial Instruments

The Company’s risk management objective is to use the most efficient and effective methods available to us to
minimize, eliminate, reduce or transfer the risks which are associated with fluctuation of exchange rates between the
Canadian, Euro, Chilean Peso and the U.S. dollar.

Forward Currency Contracts

When the Company’s Canadian subsidiary received a significant new U.S. dollar order, management evaluated
different options that were available to mitigate future currency exchange risks. The decision to hedge future sales is
not automatic and is decided case by case. The Company only use hedge instruments to hedge firm existing sales
orders and not estimated exposure, when management determined that exchange risks exceeds desired risk tolerance
levels. The forward currency contracts used to hedge future sales were designated as cash flow hedges under ASC
815-10 provided certain criteria are met. The Company’s Canadian subsidiary was sold on September 30, 2016.  

Historically, the Company enters into forward currency exchange contracts in relationship such that the exchange
gains and losses on the assets and liabilities denominated in other than the reporting units’ functional currency would
be offset by the changes in the market value of the forward currency exchange contracts it holds. The forward
currency exchange contracts that the Company has to offset existing assets and liabilities denominated in other than
the reporting units’ functional currency have been determined not to be considered a hedge under ASC 815-10. The
Company records at the balance sheet date the forward currency exchange contracts at its market value with any
associated gain or loss being recorded in current earnings. Both realized and unrealized gains and losses related to
forward currency contracts are included in current earnings and are reflected in the Statement of Income in the other
income expense section on the line titled foreign currency transaction gains (losses). Items denominated in other than
a reporting units functional currency includes certain intercompany receivables due from the Company’s Italian
subsidiaries and accounts receivable and account payable of our Italian subsidiaries and their subsidiaries.
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As required, forward currency contracts are recognized as an asset or liability at fair value on the Company’s
Consolidated Balance Sheet. For derivative instruments that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges, the
effective portion of the gain or loss on the derivative is reported as a component of other comprehensive income and
reclassified into earnings in the same period or periods during which the hedged transaction affects earnings (date of
sale). Gains or losses on cash flow hedges when recognized into income are included in net revenues. Gains and losses
on the derivative instruments representing either hedge ineffectiveness or hedge components excluded from the
assessment of effectiveness are recognized in current earnings. The Company expects minimal ineffectiveness as the
Company has hedged only firm sales orders and has not hedged estimated exposures. As of September 30, 2016, the
Company had no outstanding forward currency contracts that were in place to hedge future sales. Therefore, there are
currently no unrealized pre-tax gains or losses which will be reclassified from other comprehensive income into
earnings during the next 12 months.

PM Group has an intercompany receivable denominated in Euros from its Chilean subsidiary.  At September 30,
2016, the Company had entered into a forward currency exchange contract that matures on January 27, 2017.  Under
the contract the Company is obligated to sell 1,800,000 Chilean pesos for 2,392 euros. The purpose of the forward
contract is to mitigate the income effect related to this intercompany receivable that results with a change in exchange
rate between the Euro and the Chilean peso.

13
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Interest Rate Swap Contracts

The Company uses financial instruments available on the market, including derivatives, solely to minimize its cost of
borrowing and hedge the risk of interest rate and exchange rate fluctuation. In January 2009, prior to the January 15,
2015 acquisition date, PM entered into the following contract in order to hedge the interest rate risk related to its term
loans with two financial institutions:

A contract signed by PM, for an original notional amount of € 20,000 (€ 20,000 at September 30, 2016), maturing on
February 3, 2017 with interest payable every February 3 and August 3 each year. PM pays interest at a rate of 3.48%
and receives from the counterparties interest at the Euro Interbank Offered Rate (“Euribor”) for the period in
question.  An additional contract was signed by PM Group, for an original notional amount of € 482 (€ 414 at September
30, 2016), maturing on October 1, 2020 with interest paid monthly.   PM pays interest at a rate of 3.90% and receives
from the counterparties interest at the “Euribor” rate for the period in question if greater than 0.90%.

As of September 30, 2016, the Company had the following forward currency contracts and interest rate swaps:

Nature of Derivative Currency Amount Type
Forward currency sales

   contracts Chilean peso 1,800,000 Not designated as hedge instrument
Interest rate swap contract Euro 20,414 Not designated as hedge instrument

The following table provides the location and fair value amounts of derivative instruments that are reported in the
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015:

Total derivatives NOT designated as a hedge instrument

Fair Value

Balance Sheet Location

September 30,

2016

December 31,

2015
Asset Derivatives
Foreign currency exchange contract Prepaid expense and other $— $ 595
Foreign currency exchange contract Current assets of discontinued operations — 5
Total assets $— $ 600

Liabilities Derivatives
Foreign currency exchange contract Accrued expense $8 $ —
Foreign currency exchange contract Current liabilities of discontinued operations — 74
Interest rate swap contracts Notes payable 435 1,177
Total liabilities $443 $ 1,251
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The following tables provide the effect of derivative instruments on the Consolidated Statements of Operations for the
three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015:

Gain or (loss)
Location of gain or (loss)

recognized in

Income Statement

Three
Months
Ended

September 30,

Nine Months
Ended

September 30,
2016 2015 2016 2015

Derivatives Not designated

   as Hedge Instruments
Forward currency contracts Foreign currency transaction (losses) gain $(22 ) $243 $(332) $432
Forward currency contracts (Loss) gain from operations of discontinued operations $(32 ) $(2 ) $54 $(204)
Interest rate swap contracts Interest expense 392 376 $787 $736

$338 $617 $509 $964

The Counterparty to each of the currency exchange forward contracts is a major financial institution with credit
ratings of investment grade or better and no collateral is required. Management continues to monitor counterparty risk
and believes the risk of incurring losses on derivative contracts related to credit risk is unlikely.
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6. Net Earnings (Loss) per Common Share

Basic net earnings per share is computed by dividing net income by the weighted average number of common shares
outstanding for the period. Diluted earnings per share reflects the potential dilution of convertible debt and restricted
stock units. Details of the calculations are as follows:

Three Months Ended

September 30,

Nine Months Ended

September 30,
2016 2015 2016 2015

Net income (loss) attributable to shareholders of

   Manitex International, Inc.
Net loss from continuing operations $(5,589 ) $(616 ) $(11,982 ) $(314 )
Less: income attributable to noncontrolling

   interest (294 ) (23 ) (566 ) (495 )
Net (loss) from continuing operations

   attributable to  shareholders of Manitex

   International, Inc. (5,883 ) (639 ) (12,548 ) (809 )
(Loss) income from operations of discontinued

   operations, net of income taxes expense

   (benefit) of $5,141, $228, $267 and  $302,

   respectively (5,625 ) 864 714 932
(Loss) on sale of discontinued operations, net of

   income taxes benefit of $453 for three and

   nine months ended September 30, 2016 (9,050 ) — (9,050 ) —
Net (loss) income attributable to

   shareholders of Manitex International, Inc. $(20,558 ) $225 $(20,884 ) $123

Earnings (loss) per share
Basic
Loss from continuing operations attributable

   to shareholders' of Manitex International,

   Inc. $(0.36 ) $(0.04 ) $(0.78 ) $(0.05 )
(Loss) earnings from operations of

   discontinued operations attributable to

$(0.35 ) $0.05 $0.04 $0.06
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   shareholders of Manitex International, Inc.,

   net of tax
(Loss) on sale of discontinued operations

   attributable to shareholders of Manitex

   International, Inc., net of tax $(0.56 ) $— $(0.56 ) $—
(Loss) earnings attributable to shareholders of

   Manitex International, Inc. $(1.27 ) $0.01 $(1.30 ) $0.01

Diluted
Loss from continuing operations

   attributable to shareholders of Manitex

   International, Inc. $(0.36 ) $(0.04 ) $(0.78 ) $(0.05 )
(Loss) earnings from operations of

   discontinued operations attributable to

   shareholders of Manitex International, Inc.,

   net of tax $(0.35 ) $0.05 $0.04 $0.06
(Loss) on sale of discontinued operations

   attributable to shareholders of Manitex

   International, Inc., net of tax $(0.56 ) $— $(0.56 ) $—
(Loss) earnings attributable to shareholders of

   Manitex International, Inc. $(1.27 ) $0.01 $(1.30 ) $0.01
Weighted average common shares outstanding
Basic 16,127,346 16,014,594 16,119,578 15,955,025
Diluted 16,127,346 16,014,594 16,119,578 15,955,025

There are 267,577 and 267,891 restricted stock units which are anti-dilutive and therefore not included in the average
number of diluted shares shown above for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016, respectively.   There
are 194,067 and 196,610
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restricted stock units which are anti-dilutive and therefore not included in the average number of diluted shares shown
above for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015, respectively.

7. Equity

Stock Issuance

Shares issued to Terex Corporation

On March 1, 2016, the Company issued 30,425 shares of common stock to Terex Corporation as the Company elected
to pay $150 of the final principal payment due March 1, 2016 in shares of the Company’s common stock. The share
price for the transaction was $4.93 which was determined based upon the average closing price for the twenty trading
days ending the day before the payment was due.  

Stock issued to employees and Directors

The Company issued shares of common stock to employees and Directors as restricted stock units issued under the
Company’s 2004 Incentive Plan vested. Upon issuance entries were recorded to increase common stock and decrease
paid in capital for the amounts shown below. The following is a summary of stock issuances that occurred during the
period:

Date of Issue

Employees or

Director
Shares
Issued

Value
of

Shares
Issued

January 1, 2016 Directors 4,290 $ 26
January 1, 2016 Employees 25,920 154
June 5, 2016 Employees 642 7
September 15, 2016 Directors 6,800 36
September 30, 2016 Employees 7,511 68

45,163 291

On March 13, 2015, the Company paid a portion of officers and employee 2014 bonuses in stock. This resulted in an
issuance of 22,868 shares with an aggregate value of $212. Upon issuance, the Company’s common stock was
increased by $212 and the bonus accrual was decreased by a corresponding amount.

Stock Repurchase

The Company purchases shares of Common Stock from certain employees at the closing share price on the date that
employees’ restricted shares are issued (which is also the vesting date).  The stock is purchased from the employees to
satisfy employees’ withholding tax obligations related to the stock when issued.  Common stock is decreased by the
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value of the shares purchased.  The below table summarized shares repurchased from employees during the current
year through September 30, 2016:

Date of Issue

Shares

Repurchased

Closing

Share

Price

Value of

Shares
Repurchased

January 1, 2016 7,074 $ 5.95 $ 42
June 5, 2016 197 $ 6.75 1
September 30, 2016 2,254 $ 5.51 12

9,525 $ 55

2004 Equity Incentive Plan

In 2004, the Company adopted the 2004 Equity Incentive Plan and subsequently amended and restated the plan on
September 13, 2007, May 28, 2009 and June 2, 2016. The maximum number of shares of common stock reserved for
issuance under the plan is 1,329,364 shares. The total number of shares reserved for issuance however, can be adjusted
to reflect certain corporate transactions or changes in the Company’s capital structure. The Company’s employees and
members of the board of directors who are not our employees or employees of our affiliates are eligible to participate
in the plan. The plan is administered by a committee of the board comprised of members who are outside directors.
The plan provides that the committee has the authority to, among other things, select plan participants, determine the
type and amount of awards, determine award terms, fix all other conditions of any awards, interpret the plan and any
plan awards. Under the plan, the committee can grant stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock,
restricted stock units, performance shares and performance units, except Directors may not be granted stock
appreciation rights,
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performance shares and performance units. During any calendar year, participants are limited in the number of grants
they may receive under the plan. In any year, an individual may not receive options for more than 15,000 shares, stock
appreciation rights with respect to more than 20,000 shares, more than 20,000 shares of restricted stock and/or an
award for more than 10,000 performance shares or restricted stock units or performance units. The plan requires that
the exercise price for stock options and stock appreciation rights be not less than fair market value of the Company’s
common stock on date of grant.

The Company awarded under the Amended and Restated 2004 Equity Incentive Plan a total of 203,850 restricted
stock units to employees and directors during the nine months ended September 30. 2016. The restricted stock units
are subject to the same conditions as the restricted stock awards except the restricted stock units will not have voting
rights and the common stock will not be issued until the vesting criteria are satisfied.

The following table contains information regarding restricted stock units:

September 30,

2016
Outstanding on January 1, 2016 118,773
Units granted during the period 203,850
Vested and issued (45,163 )
Forfeited (9,883 )
Outstanding on September 30, 2016 267,577

On September 15, 2016, the Company granted an aggregate of 20,000 restricted stock units to five independent
Directors pursuant to the Company’s 2004 Equity Incentive Plan. These restricted stock units vest in aggregate
installments of 6,800, 6,600 and 6,600 on September 15, 2016, 2017 and 2018, respectively.

On January 4, 2016, the Company granted an aggregate of 23,250  restricted stock units to five independent Directors
pursuant to the Company’s 2004 Equity Incentive Plan. Restricted stock units of 7,673, 7,673 and 7,904 vest on
January 4, 2017, 2018 and 2019, respectively.

On January 4, 2016, the Company granted 160,600 restricted stock units to employees pursuant to the Company’s 2004
Equity Incentive Plan.   Restricted stock units of 52,998, 52,998 and 54,604 vest on January 4, 2017, 2018 and 2019,
respectively.

The value of the restricted stock is being charged to compensation expense over the vesting period. Compensation
expense includes expense related to restricted stock units of $334 and $301 for the three and $900 and $955 for the
nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively.  Additional compensation expense related to restricted
stock units will be $286, $745 and $375 for the remainder of 2016, 2017 and 2018, respectively.

8. New Accounting Pronouncements
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Recently Issued Pronouncements

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers,” (“ASU 2014-09”). ASU
2014-09 outlines a new, single comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting for revenue arising from
contracts with customers and supersedes most current revenue recognition guidance, including industry-specific
guidance. This new revenue recognition model provides a five-step analysis in determining when and how revenue is
recognized. The new model will require revenue recognition to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to
customers in an amount that reflects the consideration a company expects to receive in exchange for those goods or
services. In August 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-14, deferral of the effective date, which amends ASU
2014-09.  As a result, the effective date is the first quarter of 2018, with early adoption permitted.  The Company is
evaluating the impact that adoption of this guidance will have on the determination or reporting of its financial results.

In July 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-11, “Simplifying the Measurement of Inventory,” (“ASU 2015-11”). ASU
2015-11 requires inventory be measured at the lower of cost and net realizable value and options that currently exist
for market value be eliminated. ASU 2015-11 defines net realizable value as estimated selling prices in the ordinary
course of business, less reasonably predictable costs of completion, disposal, and transportation. The guidance is
effective for reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2016 and interim periods within those fiscal years with
early adoption permitted. ASU 2015-11 should be applied prospectively. The Company is evaluating the impact
adoption of this guidance will have on determination or reporting of its financial results.
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In November 2015, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2015-17 (“ASU 2015-17”), Income Taxes
(Topic 740): Balance Sheet Classification of Deferred Taxes. The amendments in ASU 2015-17 seek to simplify the
presentation of deferred income taxes and require that deferred tax liabilities and assets be classified as noncurrent in a
classified statement of financial position. ASU 2015-17 is effective for financial statements issued for annual periods
beginning after December 15, 2016, and interim periods within those annual periods, with early application permitted
for all entities as of the beginning of an interim or annual reporting period. The main impact of adoption of the
standard was the reclassification of current deferred tax assets that resulted in a reduction in deferred tax liabilities.  

In January 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-01, "Financial Instruments-Overall (Subtopic 825-10): Recognition and
Measurement of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities." The amendments in ASU 2016-01, among other things,
require equity investments (except those accounted for under the equity method of accounting, or those that result in
consolidation of the investee) to be measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in net income; requires
public business entities to use the exit price notion when measuring fair value of financial instruments for disclosure
purposes; requires separate presentation of financial assets and financial liabilities by measurement category and form
of financial asset (i.e., securities or loans and receivables); and eliminates the requirement for public business entities
to disclose the method(s) and significant assumptions used to estimate fair value that is required to be disclosed for
financial instruments measured at amortized cost. The effective date will be the first quarter of fiscal year 2018. The
Company is evaluating the impact the adoption of this new standard will have on its consolidated financial statements.

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, “Leases (Topic 842)” (“ASU 2016-02”), which requires lessees to
recognize assets and liabilities for leases with lease terms of more than 12 months and disclose key information about
leasing arrangements. Consistent with current U.S. GAAP, the recognition, measurement, and presentation of
expenses and cash flows arising from a lease by a lessee primarily will depend on its classification as a finance or
operating lease. The update is effective for reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2018. Early adoption is
permitted. The Company is in the process of evaluating the impact of this update on its consolidated financial
statements.

In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-05, “Derivatives and Hedging (Topic 815)” (“ASU 2016-05”). ASU 2016-05
provides guidance clarifying that novation of a derivative contract (i.e. a change in counterparty) in a hedge
accounting relationship does not, in and of itself, require designation of that hedge accounting relationship. The
effective date will be the first quarter of fiscal year 2017, with early adoption permitted. Adoption is not expected to
have a material effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-06, “Derivatives and Hedging (Topic 815)” (“ASU 2016-06”). ASU 2016-06
simplifies the embedded derivative analysis for debt instruments containing contingent call or put options by
clarifying that an exercise contingency does not need to be evaluated to determine whether it relates to interest rates
and credit risk in an embedded derivative analysis. The effective date will be the first quarter of fiscal year 2017, with
early adoption permitted. Adoption is not expected to have a material effect on the Company’s consolidated financial
statements.
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In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-08, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606) Principal versus
Agent Considerations (Reporting Revenue Gross versus Net)” (“ASU 2016-08”). ASU 2016-08 further clarifies principal
and agent relationships within ASU 2014-09. Similar to ASU 2014-09, the effective date will be the first quarter of
fiscal year 2018 with early adoption permitted in the first quarter of fiscal year 2017. The Company is evaluating the
impact that adoption of this new standard will have on its consolidated financial statements.

In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-09, “Compensation-Stock Compensation (Topic 718), Improvements to
Employee Share-Based Payment Accounting” (“ASU 2016-09”). ASU 2016-09 is intended to simplify several aspects of
accounting for share-based payment awards. The effective date will be the first quarter of fiscal year 2017, with early
adoption permitted. The Company is evaluating the impact that adoption of this new standard will have on its
consolidated financial statements.

In April 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-10, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606), Identifying
Performance Obligations and Licensing” (“ASU 2016-10”).  The amendments in ASU 2016-10 are expected to reduce
the cost and complexity of applying the guidance on identifying promised goods or services in contracts with
customers and to improve the operability and understandability of licensing implementation guidance related to the
entity's intellectual property.  Similar to ASU 2014-09, the effective date will be the first quarter of fiscal year 2018
with early adoption permitted in the first quarter of fiscal year 2017.  The Company is evaluating the impact that
adoption of this new standard will have on its consolidated financial statements.

In August 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-15, “Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230) Classification of Certain Cash
Receipts and Cash Payments,” (“ASU 2016-15”).  ASU 2016-15 reduces the existing diversity in practice in financial
reporting by clarifying existing principles in ASC 230, “Statement of Cash Flows,” and provides specific guidance on
certain cash flow classification

19

Edgar Filing: Manitex International, Inc. - Form 10-Q

38



issues.  The effective date for ASU 2016-15 will be the first quarter of fiscal year 2018 with early adoption permitted.
 The Company is evaluating the impact that adoption of this new standard will have on its consolidated financial
statements.

In October 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-16, “Income Taxes (Topic 740) - Intra-Entity Transfer of Assets Other
than Inventory,” (“ASU 2016-16”).  ASU 2016-16 requires recognition of current and deferred income taxes resulting
from an intra-entity transfer of any asset (excluding inventory) when the transfer occurs. This is a change from
existing GAAP which prohibits recognition of current and deferred income taxes until the asset is sold to a third
party.  The effective date for ASU 2016-16 will be the first quarter of fiscal year 2018 with early adoption
permitted. The Company is evaluating the impact that adoption of this new standard will have on its consolidated
financial statements.

Except as noted above, the guidance issued by the FASB is not expected to have a material effect on the Company’s
consolidated financial statements.

9. Inventory

The components of inventory are as follows:

September 30,

2016

December 31,

2015
Raw materials and purchased parts, net $ 74,931 $ 76,525
Work in process 4,323 5,914
Finished goods 27,738 24,105
Inventory, net $ 106,992 $ 106,544

The Company has established reserves for obsolete and excess inventory of $2,372 and $1,435 as of September 30,
2016 and December 31, 2015, respectively.

10. Goodwill and Intangible Assets

September 30, December 31, Useful
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2016 2015 lives
Patented and unpatented technology $ 28,087 $ 27,704 7-10 years
Amortization (13,513 ) (11,607 )
Customer relationships 41,680 41,263 10-20 years
Amortization (10,673 ) (7,945 )
Trade names and trademarks 20,837 20,558 25 years-indefinite
Amortization (2,783 ) (2,421 )
Non-competition agreements 50 50 2-5 years
Amortization (40 ) (38 )
Customer backlog 473 418 <1 year
Amortization (473 ) (418 )
Total intangible assets $ 63,645 $ 67,564

Amortization expense for intangible assets was $1,483 and $1,743 for the three months, and $4,934 and $5,145 for the
nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively.

Changes in goodwill for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 are as follows:

Lifting

Equipment

Segment

Equipment

Distribution

Segment

ASV

Segment Total
Balance January 1, 2016 $ 45,548 $ 275 $30,579 $76,402
Goodwill write-off $ (275 ) $(275 )
Effect of change in exchange rates 1,059 — — 1,059
Balance September 30, 2016 $ 46,607 $ — $30,579 $77,186

20

Edgar Filing: Manitex International, Inc. - Form 10-Q

40



The Company evaluated its goodwill using quantitative Step 1 analysis at June 30 and September 30, 2016.  The June
30, 2016 Step 1 calculations for the Equipment Distribution segment indicated impairment.  Accordingly, a Step 2
valuation for the Equipment Distribution segment was completed and resulted in the Equipment Distribution segment’s
goodwill being written off.  The September  30, 2016 evaluation did not indicate any impairment.  The determination
of fair value requires the Company to make significant estimates and assumptions.  If our progress in meeting these
and other assumptions is slower or different than what was anticipated, it may impact our ability to meet the
projections.

11. Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses

September 30,

2016

December 31,

2015
Accounts payable:
Trade $ 53,332 $ 59,220
Bank overdraft 828 1,195
Total accounts payable $ 54,160 $ 60,415
Accrued expenses:
Accrued payroll $ 2,988 $ 2,401
Accrued employee benefits 962 1,053
Accrued bonuses 20 869
Accrued vacation expense 1,792 1,630
Accrued interest 123 249
Accrued commissions 446 491
Accrued expenses—other 2,354 3,523
Accrued warranty 3,294 3,549
Accrued income taxes 661 815
Accrued taxes other than income taxes 3,481 3,634
Accrued product liability and workers compensation claims 1,701 2,384
Accrued liability on forward currency exchange contracts 8 —
Total accrued expenses $ 17,830 $ 20,598

12. Accrued Warranty

The liability is established using historical warranty claim experience. Historical warranty experience is, however,
reviewed by management. The current provision may be adjusted to take into account unusual or non-recurring events
in the past or anticipated changes in future warranty claims. Adjustments to the initial warranty accrual are recorded if
actual claim experience indicates that adjustments are necessary. Warranty reserves are reviewed to ensure critical
assumptions are updated for known events that may impact the potential warranty liability.
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For the nine months
ended
September 30,

2016

September 30,

2015
Balance January 1, $3,549 $ 3,142
Business Acquired — 843
Accrual for warranties issued during the period 2,170 3,128
Warranty services provided (2,324) (3,248 )
Changes in estimate (128 ) (150 )
Foreign currency translation 27 26
Balance September 30, $3,294 $ 3,741

13. Credit Facilities and Debt

U.S.  Credit Facilities

At September 30, 2016, the Company and its U.S. subsidiaries have a Loan and Security Agreement, as amended, (the
“Loan Agreement”) with The Private Bank and Trust Company (“Private Bank”).  The Loan Agreement provides
a revolving credit facility with a maturity date of July 20, 2019.   The aggregate amount of the facility is $35,000
through November 7, 2016, followed by a
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facility reduction to $30,000 at November 8, 2016, followed by a further facility reduction to $28,500 at November
30, 2016, followed by a final facility reduction to $25,000 at December 31, 2016.

The maximum borrowing available to the Company under the Loan Agreement is limited to: (1) 85% of eligible
receivables; plus (2) 50% of eligible inventory valued at the lower of cost or market subject to a $20,000 limit (limit is
reduced to $17,500 at December 31, 2016); plus (3) 80% of eligible used equipment, as defined, valued at the lower of
cost or market subject to a $2,000 limit.  At September 30, 2016, the maximum the Company could borrow based on
available collateral was capped at $27,977.  At September 30, 2016, the Company had borrowed $21,403 under this
facility. The indebtedness under the Loan Agreement is collateralized by substantially all of the Company’s assets,
except for the assets of certain of the Company’s subsidiaries.

The Loan Agreement provides that the Company can opt to pay interest on the revolving credit at either a base rate
plus a spread, or a LIBOR rate plus a spread.  The base rate spread ranges from 0.25% to 1.00% depending on the
Senior Leverage Ratio (as defined in the Loan Agreement), but is fixed at 1.00% until January 20, 2017.  The LIBOR
spread ranges from 2.25% to 3.00% also depending on the Senior Leverage Ratio, but is fixed at 3.00% until January
20, 2017.  Funds borrowed under the LIBOR option can be borrowed for period of one, two, or three months and are
limited to four LIBOR contracts outstanding at any time. Base rate and 30 day LIBOR rates were 3.50% and 0.54%,
respectively at the Private Bank at September 30, 2016.  In addition, Private Bank assesses a 0.50% unused line fee
that is payable monthly.

The Loan Agreement subjects the Company and its domestic subsidiaries to an Adjusted EBITDA covenant (as
defined) of $1,500 at September 30, 2016 and $3,500 for all quarters starting December 31, 2016 through the end of
the agreement. Additionally, the Company and its domestic subsidiaries are subject to a Fixed Charge Coverage ratio
of 1.20 to 1.00 measured on a quarterly basis beginning March 31, 2017 through the term of the agreement.  The Loan
Agreement contains customary affirmative and negative covenants, including covenants that limit or restrict the
Company’s ability to, among other things, incur additional indebtedness, grant liens, merge or consolidate, dispose of
assets, make investments, make acquisitions, pay dividends or make distributions, repurchase stock, in each case
subject to customary exceptions for a credit facility of this size.  

The Loan Agreement permits the Company to provide unsecured guarantees of indebtedness owed by CVS to foreign
banks in respect to working capital financing, not to exceed the lessor of $9,000 or the amount of such indebtedness.

The Loan Agreement has a Letter of Credit facility of $3,000, which is fully reserved against availability.

Notes Payable—Terex- ASV Acquisition

On December 19, 2014, the Company executed a note payable to Terex Corporation for $1,594. The note matures on
December 19, 2016 and has an annual interest rate of 4.5%. Interest is payable semi-annually beginning on June 19,
2015. The note was issued in connection with acquisition of 51% interest in ASV from Terex Corporation. The note
has an outstanding balance of $1,594 at September 30, 2016.

Note Payable—Bank
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At September 30, 2016, the Company has a $129 note payable to a bank. The note dated January 5, 2016 had an
original principal amount of $701 and an annual interest rate of 3.5%. Under the terms of the note the company is
required to make eleven monthly payments of $65 commencing January 30, 2016. The proceeds from the note were
used to pay annual premiums for certain insurance policies carried by the Company. The holder of the note has a
security interest in the insurance policies it financed and has the right upon default to cancel these policies and receive
any unearned premiums.

CVS Debt

CVS Short-Term Working Capital Borrowings

At September 30, 2016, CVS had established demand credit facilities with twelve Italian banks. Under the facilities,
CVS can borrow up to €350 ($393) on an unsecured basis and additional amounts as advances against orders, invoices
and letter of credit with a total maximum facilities (including the unsecured portion) of €22,119 ($24,857). The
Company has granted guarantees in respect to available credit facilities in the amount of €588 ($660).  The maximum
amount outstanding is limited to 80% of the assigned accounts receivable if there is an invoice issued or 50% if there
is an order/contract issued. The banks will evaluate each request to borrow individually and determine the allowable
advance percentage and interest rate. In making its determination the bank considers the customer’s credit and location
of the customer.
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At September 30, 2016, the banks had advanced CVS €12,245 ($13,761) at variable interest rates which currently range
from 2.72% to 6.70%.

At September 30, 2016, the Company has guaranteed €588 ($660) of CVS’s outstanding debt. Additionally, various
Italian banks have issued performance bonds which total €2.5 million ($2.9 million) and none are guaranteed by the
Company.

Notes Payable

At September 30, 2016, CVS has a €500 ($562) note payable to a bank. The note dated March 27, 2015 had an original
principal amount of €1,000 ($1,124) and an annual interest rate of EURIBOR 3 month plus 140 basis points. Under the
terms of the note CVS is required to make twelve quarterly principal and interest payments beginning on June 30,
2015 through March 31, 2018. The Company does not guarantee any of the borrowing.

At September 30, 2016, CVS has a €2,363 ($2,655) note payable to a bank. The note dated March 4, 2015 had an
original principal amount of €2,363 ($2,655) and an annual interest rate of 0.50% on €2,127 ($2,390) and 3.65% on the
balance of €236 ($265). Under the terms of the note CVS is required to make sixteen semi-annual principal payments
beginning on December 31, 2016 thru June 30, 2024. CVS is also required to make nineteen semi-annual interest
payments beginning on June 30, 2015 through June 30, 2024. The Company is guaranteeing €236 ($265) of the
borrowing.

At September 30, 2016, CVS has a €755 ($849) note payable to a bank. The note dated October 20, 2015 had an
original principal amount of €1,000 ($1,124) and an annual interest rate of 1.850%. Under the terms of the note CVS is
required to make twelve quarterly principal and interest payments beginning on January 20, 2016, through October 20,
2018. The Company does not guarantee any of the borrowing.

Acquisition note—Valla

In connection with the acquisition of Valla, the Company executed a note payable.  At September 30, 2016, the note
had a balance of €79 ($89) and is payable on December 31, 2016.

ASV Loan Facilities

In connection with the ASV arrangement, ASV entered into two separate loan facilities on December 19, 2014, one
with JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. (“JPMCB”), and the other with Garrison Loan Agency Services LLC (“Garrison”).
These two facilities are for the exclusive use of ASV and restrict the transfer of cash outside of ASV.

Both loan facilities are secured by certain assets of ASV and by a pledge of the equity interest in ASV. Pursuant to an
intercreditor agreement dated as of December 19, 2014 among JPMCB, Garrison and ASV (“ASV Intercreditor
Agreement”), the parties have agreed that (i) JPMCB shall have a first-priority security interest in substantially all
personal property of ASV and (ii) Garrison shall have a first priority security interest in (a) substantially all real
property of ASV and (b) a pledge of 100% of the equity interest in ASV issued to Company and to Terex. ASV’s loans
are solely obligations of ASV and have not been guaranteed by the Company and are not collateralized by any assets
outside of ASV.

ASV Revolving Loan Facility with JPMCB

On December 19, 2014 ASV entered into a $35,000 revolving loan facility as amended with JPMCB (“JPMCB Credit
Agreement”) as the administrative agent, which loan facility includes two sub-facilities: (i) a $1,000 as amended
sub-facility for letters of credit, and (ii) a $7,500 sub-facility for loans to be guaranteed by the Export-Import Bank of
the United States of America (“Ex-Im Bank Loans”).
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The $35,000 revolving loan facility is a secured financing facility under which borrowing availability is limited to
existing collateral as defined in the agreement. The maximum amount available is limited to (1) the sum of 85% of
eligible receivables, plus (2) the lesser of (i) 65% of eligible inventory valued at the lower of cost or market value or
(ii) 85% of eligible inventory valued at the net orderly liquidation value, reduced by (3) (i) certain reserves determined
by JPMCB, (ii) the amount of outstanding standby letters of credit issued under the JPMCB Credit Agreement and
(iii) the amount of outstanding Ex-In Bank loans. The facility matures on December 19, 2019. At September 30, 2016,
ASV had drawn $15,350 under the JPMCB Credit Agreement. The JPMCB Credit Agreement bears interest at ASV’s
option at JPMCB’ prime rate plus a spread or an adjusted LIBOR rate plus a spread. The interest rate spread for prime
rate is between 0.50% and 1.00% and for LIBOR the spread is between 1.50% and 2.00% in each case with the spread
being based on the aggregate amount of funds available for borrowing by ASV under the JPMCB Credit Agreement,
as defined in the JPMCB Credit Agreement. The base rate and LIBOR spread is currently 1.00% and 2.00%,
respectively. Funds borrowed under
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the LIBOR options can be borrowed for periods of one, two, three or six months. At September 30, 2016, the
maximum ASV could borrow based on available collateral was capped at $21,293.

The indebtedness of ASV under the JPMCB Credit Agreement is collateralized by substantially all of ASV’s assets,
but subject to the terms of the ASV Intercreditor Agreement. The facility contains customary limitations including,
but not limited to, limitations on additional indebtedness, acquisitions, and payment of dividends. ASV is also
required to comply with certain financial covenants as defined in the JPMCB Credit Agreement including maintaining
a Minimum Fixed Charge Coverage ratio of not less than 1.10 to 1.0.

Under the JPMCB Credit Agreement, the banks are also paid a commitment fee payable in monthly installments equal
to (i) the average daily amount of funds available but undrawn multiplied by (ii) an annual rate of 0.25%.

ASV Term Loan with Garrison

On December 19, 2014 ASV entered into a $40,000 term loan facility as amended with Garrison (“Garrison Credit
Agreement”) as the administrative agent. A portion of the Garrison Credit Agreement was used to fund certain
transaction costs and payments required by ASV under the ASV arrangement.

At September 30, 2016, ASV had a remaining principal balance of $32,500 (less $1,748 debt issuance cost, for a net
debt of $30,752) under the Garrison Credit Agreement. The Garrison Credit Agreement bears interest, at a one-month
adjusted LIBOR rate plus a spread of between 10.5% and 11.0%. The spread is based on the ratio of ASV’s total debt
to its EBITDA, as defined in the Garrison Credit Agreement. The LIBOR spread is currently 11.0%. The interest rate
for the period ending September 30, 2016 was 11.56%.  Debt issuance costs offset against the Garrison term note
totaled $1,748 at September 30, 2016 (resulting in an effective rate of 12.2%).

ASV is obligated to make quarterly principal payments of $500 commencing on April 1, 2015. Any unpaid principal
is due on maturity, which is December 19, 2019. Interest is payable monthly.

The indebtedness of ASV under the Garrison Credit Agreement is collateralized by substantially all of ASV assets,
but subject to the terms of the ASV Intercreditor Agreement. The facility contains customary limitations including,
but not limited to, limitations on additional indebtedness, acquisitions, and payment of dividends. ASV is also
required to comply with certain financial covenants as defined in the Garrison Credit Agreement including
maintaining (1) a Minimum Fixed Charge Coverage ratio of not less than 1.10 to 1.0 which shall step up to 1.50 to
1.00 by March 31, 2017, (2) a Leverage Ratio of 4.75 to 1.00, which shall step down to 2.50 to 1.00 by March 31,
2018 and (3) a limitation of $1,600 in capital expenditures in any fiscal year.

PM Group Short-Term Working Capital Borrowings

At September 30, 2016, PM Group had established demand credit and overdraft facilities with seven Italian banks and
six banks in South America. Under the facilities, PM Group can borrow up to approximately €23,786 ($26,731) for
advances against invoices, and letter of credit and bank overdrafts. Interest on the Italian working capital facilities is
charged at the 3-month or 6-month Euribor plus 200 basis points, while interest on overdraft facilities is charged at the
3 month Euribor plus 350 basis points. Interest on the South American facilities is charged at a flat rate of points for
advances on invoices ranging from 8% - 30%.

At September 30, 2016, the Italian banks had advanced PM Group €17,730 ($19,925), at variable interest rates, which
currently range from 1.45% to 1.70%. At September 30, 2016, the South American banks had advanced PM Group
€377 ($424). Total short-term borrowings for PM Group were €18,107 ($20,349) at September 30, 2016.

PM Group Term Loans
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At September 30, 2016, PM Group has a €12,920 ($14,520) term loan with two Italian banks, BPER and Unicredit. The
term loan is split into three separate notes and is secured by PM Group’s common stock.  Debt issuance costs offset
against these term loans totaled €426 ($479) at September 30, 2016.

The first note has an outstanding principal balance of €3,952 ($4,441), is charged interest at the 6-month Euribor plus
236 basis points, effective rate of 2.16% at September 30, 2016. The note is payable in semi-annual installments
beginning June 2017 and ending December 2021. The second note has an outstanding principal balance of €4,865
($5,467), is charged interest at the 6-month Euribor plus 286 basis points, effective rate of 2.66% at September 30,
2016. The note is payable in semi-annual installments beginning June 2017 and ending December 2021. The third
note has an outstanding principal balance of €4,103 ($4,611) and is non-interest bearing. The note is payable in
semi-annual installments beginning June 2016 and ending December 2017 and a final balloon payment in December
2022. Accrued deferred interest on these notes through the date of acquisition at January 15, 2015, totaled €4,857
($5,358)
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and is payable in semi-annual installments beginning June 2015 and ending December 2016. At September 30, 2016,
the remaining deferred interest was €1,003 ($1,127) as the original amount was reduced when the payments of the
installments were made.

An adjustment in the purchase accounting to value the non-interest bearing debt at its fair market value was made. At
January 15, 2015 it was determined that the fair value of the debt was €1,460 or $1,641 less than the book value. This
reduction is not reflected in the above descriptions of PM debt. This discount is being amortized over the life of the
debt and being charged to interest expense. As of September 30, 2016 the remaining balance was €851 or $956 and has
been offset to the debt.

PM Group is subject to certain financial covenants as defined by the debt restructuring agreement with BPER and
Unicredit including maintaining (1) Net debt to EBITDA, (2) Net debt to equity, and (3) EBITDA to net financial
charges ratios. The covenants are measured on a semi-annual basis.

At September 30, 2016 PM Group has unsecured borrowings with five Italian banks totaling €13,404 ($15,063).
Interest on the unsecured notes is charged at the 3-month Euribor plus 250 basis points, effective rate of 2.20% at
September 30, 2016. Principal payments are due on a semi-annual basis beginning June 2019 and ending December
2021. Accrued interest on these borrowings through the date of acquisition at January 15, 2015, totaled €699 ($786)
and is payable in semi-annual installments beginning June 2019 and ending December 2019.

Autogru PM RO, a subsidiary of PM Group, fully repaid the former note payable and entered into two new note
payables in October 2015 totaling €854 ($960). The first note is payable in 60 monthly principal installments of €8 ($9),
plus interest at the 1-month Euribor plus 300 basis points, effective rate of 3.00% at September 30, 2016, maturing
October 2020. At September 30, 2016, the outstanding principal balance of the note was €414 ($465). The second new
note is payable in one instalment in October 2016 is charged interest at the 1-month Euribor plus 250 basis points,
effective rate of 2.50% at September 30, 2016. At September 30, 2016, the outstanding principal balance of the note
was €440 ($495).

PM has interest rate swaps with a fair market value at September 30, 2016 of €387 or $435 which has been included in
debt.

Capital leases

Georgetown facility

The Company leases it Georgetown facility under a capital lease that expires on April 30, 2028.  The current monthly
rental payment is $64.  The lease has rent escalation provision pursuant to which rent is increased commencing on
September 1, 2016, and each subsequent September 1 during the term of the lease by 3% per increase.  At September
30, 2016, the outstanding capital lease obligation is $5,338.

Winona facility

The Company has a lease which expires on February 1, 2017, that includes a one year extension through February 1,
2018, at the option of the Company.  The lease provides for monthly lease payments of $2 for its Winona, Minnesota
facility. The Company has an option to purchase the facility for $500 by giving notice to the landlord of its intent to
purchase the facility. The Landlord must receive such notice at least three months prior to end of the lease term. At
September 30, 2016, the Company has outstanding capital lease obligation of $500, the amount of the purchase
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option.

Equipment

The Company has entered into a lease agreement with a bank pursuant to which the Company is permitted to borrow
100% of the cost of new equipment with 60 month repayment periods, respectively. At the conclusion of the lease
period, for each piece of equipment the Company is required to purchase that piece of leased equipment for one dollar.

The equipment, which is acquired in ordinary course of the Company’s business, is available for sale and rental prior to
sale.

Under the lease agreement the Company can elect to exercise an early buyout option at any time, and pay the bank the
present value of the remaining rental payments discounted by a specified Index Rate established at the time of
leasing. The early buyout option results in a prepayment penalty which progressively decreases during the term of the
lease. Alternatively, the Company under the like-kind provisions in the agreement can elect to replace or substitute
different equipment in place of equipment subject to the early buyout without incurring a penalty.
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The following is a summary of amounts financed under equipment capital lease agreements:

Balance as of
Amount

Borrowed

Repayment

Period

Amount of

Monthly Payment

September 30,

2016
New equipment $ 1,166 60 $ 22 $ 577

The Company has one additional capital lease. As of September 30, 2016, the capitalized lease obligation was $6.

Operating leases

The Company entered into four sale lease back transactions from December 2015 through March 2016 with total
proceeds of $6,675.  These transactions are accounted for as operating leases and have  60 month terms and require
monthly payments that total $108.

Note 14. Convertible Notes

Related Party

On December 19, 2014, the Company issued a subordinated convertible debenture with a $7,500 face amount payable
to Terex, a related party. The convertible debenture, is subordinated, carries a 5% per annum coupon, and is
convertible into Company common stock at a conversion price of $13.65 per share or a total of 549,451 shares,
subject to customary adjustment provisions. The debenture has a December 19, 2020 maturity date.

From and after the third anniversary of the original issuance date, the Company may redeem the convertible debenture
in full (but not in part) at any time that the last reported sale price of the Company’s common stock equals at least
130% of the Conversion Price (as defined in the debenture) for at least 20 of any 30 consecutive trading days.
Following an election by the holder to convert the debenture into common stock of the Company in accordance with
the terms of the debenture, the Company has the discretion to deliver to the holder either (i) shares of common stock,
(ii) a cash payment, or (iii) a combination of cash and stock.

In accounting for the issuance of the note, the Company separated the note into liability and equity components. The
carrying amount of the liability component was calculated by measuring the estimated fair value of a similar liability
that does not have an associated convertible feature. The carrying amount of the equity component representing the
conversion option was determined by deducting the fair value of the liability component from the face value of the
Note as a whole. The excess of the principal amount of the liability component over its carrying amount (“debt
discount”) is amortized to interest expense over the term of the note using the effective interest method with an
effective interest rate of 7.5 percent per annum. The equity component is not remeasured as long as it continues to
meet the conditions for equity classification.
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On December 19, 2014, the components of the note were as follows:

Liability component $6,607
Equity component (a component of paid in capital) 893

$7,500

Additionally in connection with the transaction a $321 deferred tax liability was established and was recorded as a
deduction to paid in capital. The deferred tax liability was recognized as the excess of the principal amount being
amortized and charged to interest expenses that is not tax deductible.

As of September 30, 2016, the note had a remaining principal balance of $6,829 and an unamortized discount of $671.
The difference between current unamortized discount and the $893 initially recorded represents $222 of amortization
of excess discount.

Perella Notes

On January 7, 2015, the Company entered into a Note Purchase Agreement (the “Perella Note Purchase Agreement”)
with MI Convert Holdings LLC (which is owned by investment funds constituting part of the Perella Weinberg
Partners Asset Based Value Strategy) and Invemed Associates LLC (together, the “Investors”), pursuant to which the
Company agreed to issue $15,000 in aggregate principal amount of convertible notes due January 7, 2021 (the “Perella
Notes”) to the Investors. The Notes are subordinated, carry a 6.50% per annum coupon, and are convertible, at the
holder’s option, into shares of Company common stock, based on an initial conversion price of $15.00 per share,
subject to customary adjustments. Following an election by the holder to convert the debenture
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into common stock of the Company in accordance with the terms of the debenture, the Company has the discretion to
deliver to the holder either (i) shares of common stock, (ii) a cash payment, or (iii) a combination of cash and
stock.  Upon the occurrence of certain fundamental corporate changes, the Perella Notes are redeemable at the option
of the holders of the Perella Notes. The Perella Notes are not redeemable at the Company’s option prior to the maturity
date, and the payment of principal is subject to acceleration upon an event of default. The issuance of the Perella
Notes by the Company was made in reliance upon the exemptions from registration provided by Rule 506 and
Section 4(2) of the Securities Act of 1933.

In connection with the issuance of the Perella Notes, on January 7, 2015, the Company entered into a Registration
Rights Agreement with the Investors (the “Registration Rights Agreement”). Pursuant to the Registration Rights
Agreement, the Company has agreed to register the resale of the shares of common stock issuable upon conversion of
the Perella Notes. The Company filed a Registration Statement on Form S-3 to register the shares with the Securities
and Exchange Commission, which was declared effective on February 23, 2015.

In accounting for the issuance of the note, the Company separated the note into liability and equity components. The
carrying amount of the liability component was calculated by measuring the estimated fair value of a similar liability
that does not have an associated convertible feature. The carrying amount of the equity component representing the
conversion option was determined by deducting the fair value of the liability component from the face value of the
Note as a whole. The excess of the principal amount of the liability component over its carrying amount (“debt
discount”) is amortized to interest expense over the term of the note using the effective interest method with an
effective interest rate of 7.5 percent per annum. The equity component is not remeasured as long as it continues to
meet the conditions for equity classification.

On January 7, 2015, the components of the note were as follows:

Liability component $14,286
Equity component (a component of paid in capital) 714

$15,000

Additionally in connection with the transaction a $257 deferred tax liability was established and was recorded as a
deduction to paid in capital. The deferred tax liability was recognized as the excess of the principal amount being
amortized and charged to interest expenses is not tax deductible.

As of September 30, 2016, the note had remaining principal balance of $14,463 and an unamortized discount of $537.
The difference between current unamortized discount and the $714 initially recorded represents $177 of amortization
of excess discount. Debt issuance costs offset against this note totaled $416 at September 30, 2016.

Note 15. Legal Proceedings and Other Contingencies

The Company is involved in various legal proceedings, including product liability, employment related issues, and
workers’ compensation matters which have arisen in the normal course of operations. The Company has product
liability insurance with self- insurance retention that range from $50 to $500. ASV product liability cases that existed
on date of acquisition have a $4,000 self-retention limit.
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The Company has been named as a defendant in several multi-defendant asbestos related product liability lawsuits. In
certain instances, the Company is indemnified by a former owner of the product line in question. In the remaining
cases the plaintiff has, to date, not been able to establish any exposure by the plaintiff to the Company’s products. The
Company is uninsured with respect to these claims but believes that it will not incur any material liability with respect
to these claims.

When it is probable that a loss has been incurred and possible to make a reasonable estimate of the Company’s liability
with respect to such matters, a provision is recorded for the amount of such estimate or the minimum amount of a
range of estimates when it is not possible to estimate the amount within the range that is most likely to occur. The
Company established reserves for several ASV and PM lawsuits in conjunction with the accounting for these two
acquisitions.

Additionally beginning on December 31, 2011, the Company’s workmen’s compensation insurance policy has per
claim deductible of $250 and aggregates of $1,000, $1,150, $1,325, $1,875 and $1,575 for 2012, 2013, 2014, 2015
and 2016 policy years, respectively. The Company is fully insured for any amount on any individual claim that
exceeds the deductible and for any additional amounts of all claims once the aggregate is reached. The Company
currently has several workmen compensation claims related to injuries that occurred after December 31, 2011 and
therefore are subject to a deductible. The Company does not believe that the contingencies associated with these
worker compensation claims in aggregate will have a material adverse effect on the Company.  
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On May 5, 2011, Company entered into two separate settlement agreements with two plaintiffs. As of September 30,
2016, the Company has a remaining obligation under the agreements to pay the plaintiffs $1,425 without interest in 15
annual installments of $95 on or before May 22 of each year. On, February 3, 2016, the Company entered into another
legal settlement with a single plaintiff for €640 ($719). The liability had been fully accrued and resulted in no gain or
loss. The Company has paid €370 ($416). As of September 30, 2016 the Company has a remaining obligation under the
agreement to pay the plaintiff €270 ($303) without interest. As of September 30, 2016, the Company has in 13
remaining monthly installments – one monthly installment of €30 ($34), followed by twelve monthly installments of
€20  ($22).

It is reasonably possible that the “Estimated Reserve for Product Liability Claims” may change within the next 12
months. A change in estimate could occur if a case is settled for more or less than anticipated, or if additional
information becomes known to the Company.

16. Business Segments

The Company is a leading provider of engineered specialty lifting and loading products. The Company operates in
three business segments:  Lifting Equipment, ASV and Equipment Distribution.

Lifting Equipment Segment

The Lifting Equipment segment is a leading provider of engineered lifting solutions. The Company designs,
manufactures and distributes, predominately through a network of dealers, a diverse group of products that serve
different functions and are used in a variety of industries. The Company markets a comprehensive line of boom
trucks, a truck crane and sign cranes. The Company also manufacturers a number of specialized rough terrain cranes
and material handling products, including 15 and 30-ton cab down rough terrain cranes. Company lifting products are
used in industrial applications, energy exploration and infrastructure development in the commercial sector. The
company’s specialized rough terrain cranes primarily serve the needs of the construction, municipality and railroad
industries. Through one of its Italian subsidiaries, the Company manufactures and distributes reach stackers and
associated lifting equipment for the global container handling markets.  The Valla product line offers a full range of
pick and carry cranes from 2 to 90 tons, using electric, diesel, and hybrid power options. Its cranes offer wheeled or
tracked, fixed or swing boom configurations, with dozens of special applications designed specifically to meet the
needs of its customers. The Company also manufactures and markets a comprehensive line of specialized trailer tanks
for liquid and solid storage and containment. The tank trailers are used in a variety of end markets such as
petrochemical, waste management and oil and gas drilling. As of January 15, 2015, the Company acquired the PM
Group S.p.A. (“PM”). PM is a leading Italian manufacturer of truck mounted hydraulic knuckle boom cranes with a
50-year history of technology and innovation, and a product range spanning more than 50 models. Its largest
subsidiary, Oil & Steel, S.p.A. (“O&S”), is a manufacturer of truck-mounted aerial platforms with a diverse product line
and an international client base.

PM Group results are included in the Company’s results from January 15, 2015, the date of acquisition.

ASV Segment

ASV manufactures a line of high quality compact rubber tracked and skid steer loaders. The ASV products are
distributed through Terex Corporation (“Terex”) distribution channels as well as through the Company and other
independent dealers. This independent dealer network now has over 100 locations.  The products are used in the site
clearing, general construction, forestry, golf course maintenance and landscaping industries, with general construction
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being the largest market.

Equipment Distribution Segment

The Equipment Distribution segment comprises the operations of Crane & Machinery, Inc. (“C&M”) and Crane and
Machinery Leasing, Inc. (“C&M Leasing”).  The segment markets products used primarily for infrastructure
development and commercial construction applications that include road and bridge construction, general contracting,
roofing, scrap handling and sign construction and maintenance. C&M is a distributor of Terex rough terrain and truck
cranes products and supplies repair parts for a wide variety of medium to heavy duty construction equipment and sells
domestically and internationally, predominately to end users, including the rental market. It also provides crane
equipment repair services in the Chicago area. The segment markets previously-owned construction and heavy
equipment and trailers both domestically and internationally. C&M purchases previously owned equipment of various
ages and conditions and often refurbishes the equipment before resale.  The segment also sells Valla products.

C&M Leasing rents equipment manufactured by the Company as well as a limited amount of equipment manufactured
by third parties.   C&M Leasing has recently substantially expanded its rental fleet.  Previously, the Company’s rental
operations were centered
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in the Chicago region.  With the expansion of the rental fleet, C&M Leasing is expanding its rental territory with a
goal of having a national presence.  

The following is financial information for our three operating segments, i.e., Lifting Equipment, Equipment
Distribution and ASV:

Three Months
Ended

September 30,

Nine Months Ended

September 30,
2016 2015 2016 2015

Net revenues
Lifting Equipment $47,854 $54,755 $171,927 $177,974
Equipment Distribution 3,662 2,953 12,711 10,363
ASV 23,011 26,899 78,752 91,162
Inter-segment sales (396 ) (131 ) (2,684 ) (2,687 )
Total $74,131 $84,476 $260,706 $276,812
Operating income (loss) from continuing operations
Lifting Equipment $(507 ) $3,053 $4,732 $9,885
Equipment Distribution (270 ) (231 ) (1,568 ) 10
ASV 1,699 1,367 4,783 5,320
Corporate expenses (1,922 ) (2,267 ) (5,898 ) (6,669 )
Change in inter-segment profit in inventory

   elimination 39 36 15 (59 )
Total operating income (loss) $(961 ) $1,958 $2,064 $8,487

During the quarter ended March 31, 2016, the Company’s CVS subsidiary sold its terminal tractor product line to a
related party.  The transaction totaled €2,839 ($3,119) inclusive of VAT taxes and resulted in a gain of €1,987 ($2,212),
which is included in other income on the Consolidated Statement of Operations.  In connection with this transaction,
CVS paid a $540 commission to the Distribution segment for services that were provided.  Revenues for the
Distribution segment include this commission.  The Lifting segments operating expense includes an offsetting
commission expense.  Both aforementioned intercompany commission revenue and expense has been eliminated in
the Company’s consolidated results for the nine months ended September 30, 2016.  

Lifting Equipment segment operating earnings includes amortization of $855 and $1,093 for the three months, and
$2,916 and $3,200 for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively. The Equipment Distribution
segment operating earnings includes amortization of $36 and $36 for the three months and $110 and $110 for the nine
months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively. The ASV segment operating earnings includes
amortization of $636 and $638 for the three months,and $1,908 and $1,910 for the nine months ended September 30,
2016 and 2015, respectively.

September 30, December 31,
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2016 2015
Total Assets
Lifting Equipment $ 246,206 $ 242,330
Equipment Distribution 11,496 14,585
ASV 116,926 120,635
Corporate 719 1,712
Discontinued operations — 24,896
Total $ 375,347 $ 404,158

17. Transactions between the Company and Related Parties

In the course of conducting its business, the Company has entered into certain related party transactions from
continuing and discontinued operations.

On December 16, 2014, the Company, BGI USA Inc. (“BGI”), Movedesign SRL and R & S Advisory S.r.l., entered into
an operating agreement (the “Operating Agreement”) for Lift Ventures LLC (“Lift Ventures”), a joint venture entity. The
purposes for which Lift Ventures is organized are the manufacturing and selling of certain products and components,
including the Schaeff line of electric forklifts and certain Liftking products. Pursuant to the Operating Agreement, the
Company was granted a 25% equity stake in the Lift Ventures in exchange for the contribution of certain inventory
and a license of certain intellectual property related to the Company’s products.
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The Company, through its subsidiaries, purchases and sells parts to BGI USA, Inc. (“BGI”) including its subsidiary SL
Industries, Ltd (“SL”). BGI is a distributor of assembly parts used to manufacture various lifting equipment. SL
Industries, Ltd is a Bulgarian subsidiary of BGI that manufactures fabricated and welded components used to
manufacture various lifting equipment. The Company’s President of Manufacturing Operations is the majority owner
of BGI.

As of September 30, 2016 the Company had an accounts receivable of $55 and $64 from Lift Ventures and SL,
respectively and accounts payable of $7, $266, $690 and $1,444 to BGI, Lift Ventures, SL and Terex,
respectively.  As of December 31, 2015 the Company had an accounts receivable of $157 and $41 from SL and Lift
Ventures, respectively and accounts payable of $150, $244, $2, and to SL, Lift Ventures and BGI, respectively.

The following is a summary from continuing and discontinued operations attributable to certain related party
transactions as described in the footnotes to the table, for the periods indicated:

Three Months
Ended

September 30,
2016

Three Months
Ended

September 30,
2015

Nine Months
Ended

September 30,
2016

Nine Months
Ended

September 30,
2015

Rent paid Bridgeview Facility (1) $ 65 $ 65 $ 194 $ 191

Sales to: BGI USA, Inc. $ — $ — $ — $ 3
SL Industries, Ltd. 11 56 59 56
Lift Ventures 1 — 14 —

$ 12 $ 56 $ 73 $ 59

Purchases from:
BGI USA, Inc. $ — 7 $ — 7
Lift Ventures 614 211 1,376 496
SL Industries, Ltd. 196 986 1,861 3,453
Terex 1,352 127 1,632 470

Total Purchases $ 2,162 $ 1,331 $ 4,869 $ 4,426

1.The Company leases its 40,000 sq. ft. Bridgeview facility from an entity controlled by Mr. David Langevin, the
Company’s Chairman and CEO. Pursuant to the terms of the lease, the Company makes monthly lease payments of
$22. The Company is also responsible for all the associated operations expenses, including insurance, property
taxes, and repairs. The lease will expire on June 30, 2020 and has a provision for six one year extension periods.
The lease contains a rental escalation clause under which annual rent is increased during the initial lease term by the
lesser of the increase in the Consumer Price Increase or 2.0%. Rent for any extension period shall however, be the
then-market rate for similar industrial buildings within the market area. The Company has the option, to purchase
the building by giving the Landlord written notice at any time prior to the date that is 180 days prior to the
expiration of the lease or any extension period. The Landlord can require the Company to purchase the building if a
change of Control Event, as defined in the agreement occurs by giving written notice to the Company at any time
prior to the date that is 180 days prior to the expiration of the lease or any extension period. The purchase price
regardless whether the purchase is initiated by the Company or the landlord will be the Fair Market Value as of the
closing date of said sale.

Transactions with Terex
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At September 30, 2016, ASV has accounts receivable due from Terex for $770 which is shown on the balance on the
line titled “accounts receivable from related party” and accounts payable of $1,456 on the line titled “accounts payable
related parties”. At December 31, 2015, accounts receivable due from Terex was $388 and accounts payable owed to
Terex was $1,413.

The Company has the following notes payable to Terex:

September 30, December 31,
2016 2015

Note related to Crane and Schaeff acquisition $ — $ 250
Note payable related to ASV acquisition $ 1,594 $ 1,594
Convertible note, (net) $ 6,829 $ 6,737

See Note 13 and Note 14 for additional details regarding the above debt obligations.
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The following is a summary of the amounts attributable to certain transactions between ASV and Terex, our joint
venture, as described in the footnotes to the table, for the periods indicated:

Three Months
Ended

September 30,
2016

Three Months
Ended

September 30,
2015

Nine Months
Ended

September 30,
2016

Nine Months
Ended

September 30,
2015

Sales to Terex $ 200 $ 267 $ 1,471 $ 1,632
Purchases from Terex $ 2,175 $ 1,711 $ 6,090 $ 4,058

In addition to the above referenced purchases, ASV expensed $170 and $1,150 for the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2016 in connection with the Distribution and Cross Marketing Agreement and $135 and $1,402 for the
same comparable periods in 2015.

For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016, ASV expensed $322 and $972 in connection with the
Service Agreement and $370 and $1,113 for the same comparable periods in 2015, respectively.      

On March 4, 2016, CVS and Terex Operations Italy S.R.L. (“TOI”) entered into an agreement whereby TOI acquired
certain inventories and intellectual property related to CVS’ terminal tractor line.  The transaction totaled €2,839
($3,119) inclusive of VAT taxes and resulted in a gain of €1,987 ($2,212), which is included in other income on the
Consolidated Statement of Operations.  The transaction also contained a contract manufacturing requirement for CVS
to continue production of the terminal tractor line for TOI for a period of nine months.  After this period of time CVS
will have the access to terminal tractor equipment directly from TOI under a private label agreement.  

On March 11, 2016, Terex made an additional $2,450 equity contribution to ASV.

18. Income Taxes

The Company’s provision for income taxes consist of U.S. and foreign taxes in amounts necessary to align the
Company’s year-to-date tax provision with the effective tax rate that the Company expects to achieve for the full year.
Each quarter the Company updates its estimate of the annual effective tax rate and records cumulative adjustments for
changes in estimate as necessary. The estimated annual effective tax rate is based upon the Company’s anticipated
earnings both in the U.S. and in foreign jurisdictions. The annual effective tax rate from continuing operations for
2016 (but excluding discrete items), is estimated to be (3.8)%.   
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The estimated annual effective tax rate from continuing operations for 2016 of (3.8)% is lower than the statutory rate
of 35% primarily due to the mix of anticipated earnings both in U.S. and foreign jurisdictions, and projected current
year losses for which no tax benefit is recognized as a result of our increase in the valuation allowance.

In assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets, we evaluate whether it is more likely than not (more than 50%)
that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will be realized. The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is
dependent upon the generation of future taxable income in those periods in which temporary differences become
deductible and/or net operating losses can be utilized. We assess all positive and negative evidence when determining
the amount of the net deferred tax assets that are more likely than not to be realized. This evidence includes, but is not
limited to, prior earnings history, scheduled reversal of taxable temporary differences, tax planning strategies and
projected future taxable income. Significant weight is given to positive and negative evidence that is objectively
verifiable. As of June 30, 2016, we projected to be in a U.S. cumulative loss position during the three year period
ending in December 31, 2016, which is considered to be a significant piece of negative evidence.

Based on these factors, most notably the projected three year cumulative loss, the Company is not recognizing a tax
benefit for the portion of the projected 2016 tax loss that cannot be realized with a carryback claim for a refund of
taxes paid in prior years and therefore increased our valuation allowance.

For the nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, the Company recorded income tax expense (benefit) from
continuing operations of $453 and $(65), respectively. For the three months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, the
Company recorded an income tax (benefit) from continuing operations of $(3,813) and $(175), respectively.

The Company’s total unrecognized tax benefits as of September 30, 2016 and 2015 were approximately $936 and
$941, which, if recognized, would affect the Company’s effective tax rate. Included in the unrecognized tax benefits is
a liability for the PM Group’s
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potential IRES and IRAP audit adjustments for the tax years 2009 – 2013. Depending upon the final resolution of the
PM Group’s audit, the liability could be higher or lower than the amount recorded at September 30, 2016.

The Company’s provision for income taxes consists of U.S. and foreign taxes in amounts necessary to align the
Company’s year-to-date tax provision with the effective rate that the Company expects to achieve for the full year.
Each quarter the Company updates its estimate of the annual effective tax rate and records cumulative adjustments for
changes in estimate as necessary. The 2016 estimated annual effective tax rate is based upon the Company’s
anticipated earnings both in the U.S. and foreign jurisdictions, and projected current year losses for which no tax
benefit is recognized.

19. Discontinued Operations

On September 30, 2016, the Company completed the sale of Manitex Liftking, ULC, an Alberta unlimited liability
corporation pursuant to a Share Purchase Agreement (the “Liftking Purchase Agreement”) with Mi-Jack Products, Inc.
and its wholly-owned subsidiary Liftking Acquisition ULC.  

The Company received cash consideration of $14.0 million.  The Company recognized a pre-tax loss of $9,503 on the
sale including  transaction expenses of $581. The pre-tax loss includes a non-cash portion related to intangible assets
and goodwill write-offs of $2,904 and $3,687, respectively.  The aforementioned intangible and goodwill represents
an allocation of a portion of the Lifting segment’s intangibles and goodwill that existed on the date of sale.  The
allocation percentage was arrived at by computing the full value of the Lifting segment and subtracting the value of
the cash consideration that the Company received related to the Liftking disposition.  The Company did record an
income tax benefit of $453 attributable to this transaction. 

The following is the detail of major classes of assets and liabilities of discontinued operations that were summarized
on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheet:

As of

December
31,

2015
ASSETS
Current assets
Cash $ —
Trade receivables (net) 5,017
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Other receivables 96
Inventory, net 12,725
Prepaid expense and other 179
Total current assets of discontinued operations 18,017
Total fixed assets (net) 127
Intangible assets (net) 3,065
Goodwill 3,687
Total assets of discontinued operations $ 24,896

Current liabilities
Revolving credit facilities $ 1,795
Accounts payable 1,722
Accrued expenses 455
Total current liabilities of discontinued operations 3,972
Long-term liabilities
Revolving credit facilities 7,225
Total long-term liabilities of discontinued operations 7,225
Total liabilities of discontinued operations $ 11,197
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The following is the detail of major line items that constitute the income (loss) from discontinued operations for
Liftking:

Three Months
Ended

September 30,

Nine Months
Ended

September 30,
2016 2015 2016 2015

Net revenues $3,319 $7,215 $15,382 $16,434
Cost of sales 2,916 5,636 11,787 13,485
Research and development costs 90 89 271 265
Selling, general and administrative expenses 657 514 1,727 1,679
Interest expense 118 185 436 525
Foreign currency exchange (loss) gain (22 ) 2 (180 ) 394
(Loss) income from discontinued operations before

   income  taxes (484 ) 793 981 874
Loss on sale of discontinued operation including

   transactions expense of $581 (9,503 ) — (9,503 ) —
Total (loss) income on discontinued

   operations before  income taxes (9,987 ) 793 (8,522 ) 874
Income tax expense (benefit) related to

   discontinued operations 4,688 182 (186 ) 241
Net (loss) income on discontinued operations $(14,675) $611 $(8,336 ) $633

On December 28, 2015, the Company completed the sale of the membership interests of Load King, LLC

The following is the detail of major line items that constitute the income from discontinued operations for Load King:

Three Months
Ended

September 30,
2015

Nine Months
Ended

September 30,
2015

Net revenues $ 4,980 $ 14,911
Cost of sales 4,067 12,755
Research and development costs 131 363
Selling, general and administrative expenses 393 1,176
Interest expense 90 265
Other income — 8
Income from discontinued operations before income taxes 299 360
Income tax related to discontinued operations 46 61
Net income on discontinued operations $ 253 $ 299
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20.  Impairment of Lift Venture Investment

In December 2014, the Company entered into a joint venture agreement pursuant to which Lift Ventures LLC was
formed. The joint venture was formed to manufacture and sell certain products and components, including the
Company's Schaeff electric forklift business, which was operated by the Company's Liftking subsidiary and certain
other Liftking products. One of the other partners in the joint venture contributed design services which were to be
used to develop additional new products for the joint venture. 

As a result of the sale, in the third quarter, of the Company's Liftking subsidiary, Lift Ventures LLC will no longer
have the right to sell Schaeff and Liftking products in the future.  Additionally, as a result of certain financial
difficulties experienced by the partner, who was to contribute design services, it will not be able to provide such
services.  As a result of these events, the Company has determined that its investment in the Lift Ventures has become
impaired and has recognized an impairment charge of $5,647 to write off its entire investment in Lift Ventures LLC.
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21.  Subsequent Events

Manitex International, Inc. and certain of its subsidiaries currently have a Loan Agreement with Private Bank.  On
November 8, 2016 the Company and Private Bank entered into Amendment No. 3 to the Loan Agreement (the
“Amendment”).  The main modifications to the Loan Agreement resulting from the Amendment are as follows:

•reducing the maximum amount of the facility to $30,000 at November 8, 2016, followed by a further facility
reduction to $28,500 at November 30, 2016, followed by a final facility reduction to $25,000 at December 31, 2016;
•adding an Adjusted EBITDA covenant for the Company’s domestic subsidiaries (as defined) of $1,500 at September
30, 2016 and $3,500 for all quarters starting December 31, 2016 through the term of the agreement; and
•eliminating the testing of the Fixed Charge Coverage ratio covenant for September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2016.

Item 2: Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This quarterly report on Form 10-Q contains forward-looking statements and are intended to be “forward-looking
statements” within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934. These statements relate to, among other things, the Company’s expectations, beliefs, intentions,
future strategies, future events or future financial performance, and involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties
and other factors that may cause our actual results, levels of activity, performance or achievements to be materially
different from any future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by such forward-looking
statements. Forward-looking statements include, without limitation: (1) projections of revenue, earnings, capital
structure and other financial items, (2) statements of our plans and objectives, (3) statements regarding the capabilities
and capacities of our business operations, (4) statements of expected future economic conditions and the effect on us
and on our customers, (5) expected benefits of our cost reduction measures, and (6) assumptions underlying
statements regarding us or our business. In some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements by terminology
such as “may,” “should,” “could,” “expects,” “plans,” “intends,” “anticipates,” “believes,” “estimates,” “predicts,” “potential” or “continue” or
the negative of such terms or other comparable terminology. Although we believe that the expectations reflected in the
forward-looking statements are reasonable, we cannot guarantee future results, levels of activity, performance or
achievements. These statements are only predictions. Our actual results may differ materially from information
contained in these forward looking-statements for many reasons, including, without limitation, those described below
and in our 2015 Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2015, in the section entitled
“Item 1A. Risk Factors,”

(1)Substantial deterioration in economic conditions, especially in the United States and Europe;
(2)our customers’ diminished liquidity and credit availability;
(3)difficulties in implementing new systems, integrating acquired businesses, managing anticipated growth, and

responding to technological change;
(4)our ability to negotiate extensions of our credit agreements and to obtain additional debt or equity financing when

needed;
(5)our level of indebtedness and our ability to meet financial covenants required by our debt agreements;
(6)increases in interest rates;
(7)government spending, fluctuations in the construction industry, and capital expenditures in the oil and gas industry;
(8)the performance of our competitors;
(9)shortages in supplies and raw materials or the increase in costs of materials;
(10)the cyclical nature of the markets we operate in;
(11)
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product liability claims, intellectual property claims, and other
liabilities;

(12)the volatility of our stock price;
(13)future sales of our common stock;
(14)the willingness of our stockholders and directors to approve mergers, acquisitions, and other business

transactions;
(15)currency transactions (foreign exchange) risks and the risks related to forward currency contracts;
(16)certain provisions of the Michigan Business Corporation Act and the Company’s Articles of Incorporation, as

amended, Amended and Restated Bylaws, and the Company’s Preferred Stock Purchase Rights may discourage or
prevent a change in control of the Company; and
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(17)a substantial portion of our revenues are attributed to limited number of customers which may decrease or cease
purchasing any time

(18)a disruption or breach in our information technology systems;
(19)the carrying value of our goodwill and other indefinite –lived intangible assets could become impaired; and
(20)other factors.
The risks described in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2015, are not the only
risks facing our Company. Additional risks and uncertainties not currently known to us or that we currently deem to
be immaterial also may materially adversely affect our business, financial condition or operating results. If any of
these risks or uncertainties materialize, or if our underlying assumptions prove to be incorrect, actual results may vary
significantly from what we projected. We do not undertake, and expressly disclaim, any obligation to update this
forward-looking information, except as required under applicable law. The following discussion should be read in
conjunction with the accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes thereto of the Company appearing
elsewhere within this Form 10-Q.

OVERVIEW

The Company is a leading provider of engineered lifting solutions. The Company operates in three business segments:
the Lifting Equipment segment, the ASV segment and the Equipment Distribution segment.

Lifting Equipment Segment

The Company is a leading provider of engineered lifting solutions. The Company designs, manufactures and
distributes a diverse group of products that serve different functions and are used in a variety of industries. Through its
Manitex, Inc. subsidiary it markets a comprehensive line of boom trucks, truck cranes and sign cranes. Manitex’s boom
trucks and crane products are primarily used for industrial projects, energy exploration and infrastructure
development, including, roads, bridges and commercial construction. Badger Equipment Company (“Badger”) is a
manufacturer of specialized rough terrain cranes and material handling products. Badger primarily serves the needs of
the construction, municipality and railroad industries.

PM Group, S.p.A. (“PM”) is a leading Italian manufacturer of truck mounted hydraulic knuckle boom cranes with a
50-year history of technology and innovation, and a product range spanning more than 50 models. Its largest
subsidiary, Oil & Steel, S.p.A. (“O&S”), is a manufacturer of truck-mounted aerial platforms with a diverse product line
and an international client base.

CVS Ferrari, srl (“CVS”) designs and manufactures a range of reach stackers and associated lifting equipment for the
global container handling market, that are sold through a broad dealer network. The Valla product line offers a full
range of precision pick and carry cranes from 2 to 90 tons, using electric, diesel, and hybrid power options. Its cranes
offer wheeled, tracked and fixed or swing boom configurations, with special applications designed specifically to meet
the needs of its customers.

Manitex Sabre, Inc. (“Sabre”) manufactures a comprehensive line of specialized mobile tanks for liquid and solid
storage and containment solutions with capacities from 8,000 to 21,000 gallons. Its mobile tanks are sold to
specialized independent tank rental companies and through the Company’s existing dealer network. The tanks are used
in a variety of end markets such as petrochemical, waste management and oil and gas drilling.  On March 12, 2015,
the Company acquired certain assets of Columbia Tank and merged its operations with Sabre.  

ASV Segment

A.S.V., LLC (“ASV”) manufactures a line of high quality compact track and skid steer loaders. The products are used in
the site clearing, general construction, forestry, golf course maintenance and landscaping industries, with general
construction being the largest market. The ASV products are distributed through the Terex distribution channels as
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well as through the Company and other independent dealers. The Company has a 51% ownership interest in ASV.

Equipment Distribution Segment

The Equipment Distribution segment consists of two of the Company’s subsidiaries, Crane and Machinery, Inc.
(“C&M”) and Crane and Machinery Leasing, Inc. (“C&M Leasing”).  C&M is a distributor of Terex rough terrain and
truck cranes products as well as Manitex’s own products.  C&M offers equipment repair services in the Chicago area
and supplies repair parts for a wide variety of medium to heavy duty construction equipment both domestically and
internationally. C&M also markets previously-owned construction and heavy equipment and trailers both domestically
and internationally. C&M purchases previously owned equipment of various ages and conditions and often refurbishes
the equipment before resale.
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C&M Leasing rents equipment manufactured by the Company as well as a limited amount of equipment manufactured
by third parties.  C&M Leasing has recently expanded its rental fleet substantially.  Previously, the Company’s rental
operations were centered in the Chicago region.  With the expansion of the rental fleet, C&M Leasing is expanding its
rental territory with a goal of having a national presence.  

Discontinued Operations

Manitex Load King, LLC (“Load King”) manufactured specialized custom trailers and hauling systems typically used
for transporting heavy equipment. Load King trailers serve niche markets in the commercial construction, railroad,
military and equipment rental industries through a dealer network.  Load King was sold on December 28, 2015 and is
presented as a discontinued operation.

Manitex Liftking ULC (“Manitex Liftking” or “Liftking”) sold a complete line of rough terrain forklifts, a line of stand-up
electric forklifts, cushioned tired forklifts with lifting capacities from 18 thousand to 40 thousand pounds and special
mission oriented vehicles, as well as other specialized carriers, heavy material handling transporters and steel mill
equipment.  The Company’s Liftking subsidiary was sold on September 30, 2016, and is presented as a discontinued
operation.    

Economic Conditions

Beginning with the recent resurgence of the U.S. onshore oil industry, a significant portion of the Company’s revenues
has been attributed to the North American energy sector.  Crude oil prices fell sharply during the fourth quarter of
2014 and remained in the fifty dollar per barrel range through June 2015. After that point oil prices began to again
erode significantly decreasing to under $30 dollar a barrel. As result, the number of oil rigs in service has dropped
from approximately from 1,600 in January 2015 to 500 at the end of 2015.

As a result of this decrease in rig count, the oil and gas industry further curtailed purchasing that began in 2014 and
began selling excess equipment into the general construction market, which further depressed the demand for boom
trucks.  We have recently observed a slight moderating of the sell-off of excess equipment by the energy sector and a
modest increase in rig counts and are hopeful that the selloff of excess equipment by the energy sector will be largely
completed by the end of 2016 or early 2017.  The aforementioned factors resulted in a significant decrease in revenues
during 2015 and during the first nine months of 2016 from the sale of boom trucks, mobile tanks and used
equipment.  

The market for a number of the Company’s products, including the PM knuckle boom cranes, ASV compact track
loader skid steer loaders and port handling equipment have not been significantly affected by the decrease in oil
prices. The markets for these products have either been stable or growing. In particular the market for knuckle boom
cranes, including the North American market, is continuing to grow. PM currently has a very small share of the
market for knuckle boom cranes in North America. The Company has started to manufacture knuckle boom cranes in
the United State and is marketing them through the Company’s current distribution channels. The Company currently
has a strong presence in North America for its boom trucks. The Company believes that it can significantly increase
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the Company’s share for knuckle boom cranes in North American. The Company believes this is an immediate
opportunity that will continue to grow over time.

At the end of the quarter, the Company backlog was $46 million, including orders from ASV and PM that now
comprise 36% of the total backlog at September 30, 2016.

Factors Affecting Revenues and Gross Profit

The Company derives most of its revenue from purchase orders from dealers and distributors. The demand for the
Company’s products depends upon the general economic conditions of the markets in which the Company competes.
The Company’s sales depend in part upon its customers’ replacement or repair cycles. Adverse economic conditions,
including a decrease in commodity prices, may cause customers to forego or postpone new purchases in favor of
purchasing used equipment or repairing existing machinery. Additionally, ASV subsidiaries are impacted by
residential housing starts.  CVS revenues are impacted in part by the timing of contract awards related to major port
projects.

Gross profit varies from period to period. Factors that affect gross profit include product mix, production levels and
cost of raw materials. Margins tend to increase when production is skewed towards larger capacity cranes.
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Three Months Ended September 30, 2016 Compared to Three Months Ended September 30, 2015

Net (loss) from continuing operations for the three month periods ended September 30, 2016 and 2015  

For the three months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015 the Company had a net loss from continuing operations of
$5.6 million and $0.6 million, respectively.

For the three months ended September 30, 2016, the net loss from continuing operations of  $5.6 million consisted of
revenue of $74.1 million, cost of sales of $62.5 million, research and development costs of $1.2 million, SG&A
expenses of $11.4 million, interest expense of $2.7 million, foreign currency loss of $0.1 million, income tax benefit
of $3.8 million and loss on non-marketable equity interest of $5.7 million.

For the three months ended September 30, 2015, the net loss from continuing operations of $0.6 million consisted of
revenue of $84.5 million, cost of sales of $68.7 million, research and development costs of $1.1 million, SG&A
expenses of $12.7 million, interest expense of $2.6 million, foreign currency transaction loss of $0.1 million, other
expense of $0.1 million and income tax benefit of $0.2 million  .

Net revenues and gross profit —For the three months ended September 30, 2016, net revenues and gross profit were
$74.1 million and $11.7 million, respectively. Gross profit as a percent of revenues was 15.7% for the three months
ended September 30, 2016. For the three months ended September 30, 2015, net revenues and gross profit were $84.5
million and $15.8 million, respectively. Gross profit as a percent of revenues was 18.7% for the three months ended
September 30, 2015.

Net revenues decreased $10.3 million or 12.2% to $74.1 million for the three months ended September 30, 2016 from
$84.5 million for the comparable period in 2015.  Revenues for the Lifting and ASV segments decreased by $6.9
million and $3.9 million or by 12.6% and 14.5%, respectively.  Revenues for Equipment Distribution segment
increased by $0.7 million or 24.0%  

A substantial portion of the decrease in revenues for the Lifting segment is attributable to a decrease in sale of our
specialized mobile storage tanks, a product line that is particularly sensitive to U.S. oil production.  The remainder of
the decrease is related to a decrease in revenues for our crane products, which are also impact but to a lesser degree by
lower world oil prices.  The aforementioned decreases were partially offset by an increase in revenues generated for
container handling equipment, which is not sensitive to oil prices.

The decrease in the ASV segment revenues is principally due to a decrease in machine sales and secondarily due to a
decrease in part sales. The machine sales decrease is due in large part to a decrease in Terex branded units. Two thirds
of the decrease in part sales is attributed to a decrease in part sales to Caterpillar including undercarriages.   Part sales
to Caterpillar especially undercarriage sales have been volatile between periods.      

The increase in Equipment Distribution sales is principally due to increased machine sales.  The segment has made a
concerted effort to sell inventory it held and on occasion has made price concessions to facilitate the sale.  

Our gross profit percent decreased 3.0% to 15.7% for the three months ended September 30, 2016 from 18.7% for the
three months ended September 30, 2015.  The decrease in gross margin percent is attributed to decreased gross margin
percent in both the Lifting and Equipment Distribution segments partially offset by a marginally higher gross profit
percent for the ASV segment. The gross profit percent for the Lifting segment was adversely impacted by decreased
volume, less favorable product mix and a more aggressive pricing environment.  The Equipment Distribution segment
margin decreased as there were significant machine sales at lower margins, the result of a concerted effort to sell
inventory held by the segment.  
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Research and development —Research and development was $1.2 million for the three months ended September 30,
2016 compared to $1.1 million for the same period in 2015.    Research and development expenditures were relatively
consistent with prior period.

Selling, general and administrative expense —Selling, general and administrative expense for the three months ended
September 30, 2016 was $11.4 million compared to $12.7 million for the comparable period in 2015, a decrease of
$1.3 million.  Expenses for the three months ended September 30, 2016 were favorably impacted by a $0.5 million
favorable change in an estimate regarding a product liability claim as it was determine that the claim could be settled
for less than what was reserved.   The remaining $0.8 million decrease is principally attributed to cost reductions made
in response decreased revenues and to lower variable selling expenses. 

Operating (loss) income —For the three months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, the Company had an operating
loss of $1.0  million compared with an income of $2.0 million, respectively.   The adverse change in operating income
is the result of
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decrease in gross profit of $4.2 million, the result of decreased in revenues and lower gross profit margin.  The
decrease in gross margin was partially offset by a $1.2 million decrease in operating expenses.  

Interest expense —Interest expense was $2.7 million for the three months ended September 30, 2016 compared to $2.6
million for the comparable period in 2015, an increase of $0.1.  Interest did not change significantly between periods.

Foreign currency transaction losses —For both the three month periods ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, the
Company had a foreign currency loss of $0.1 million.   

Income tax — For the three months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015 the Company recorded an income tax (benefit)
from continuing operations of $(3.8) and $(0.2) million, respectively. The Company’s provision for income taxes
consists of U.S. and foreign taxes in amounts necessary to align the Company’s year-to-date tax provision with the
effective rate that the Company expects to achieve for the full year. The annual effective tax rate from continuing
operations for 2016 (but excluding discrete items,) is estimated to be approximately (3.8)%, while the actual annual
effective tax rate for 2015 was 15.4%.

The 2016 estimated annual effective tax rate of (3.8)% is lower than the statutory rate of 35% primarily due to the mix
of anticipated earnings both in U.S. and foreign jurisdictions and projected losses for which no tax benefit is
recognized as a result of our increase in the valuation allowance.

In assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets, we evaluate whether it is more likely than not (more than 50%)
that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will be realized. The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is
dependent upon the generation of future taxable income in those periods in which temporary differences become
deductible and/or net operating losses can be utilized. We assess all positive and negative evidence when determining
the amount of the net deferred tax assets that are more likely than not to be realized. This evidence includes, but is not
limited to, prior earnings history, scheduled reversal of taxable temporary differences, tax planning strategies and
projected future taxable income. Significant weight is given to positive and negative evidence that is objectively
verifiable. As of September 30, 2016, we projected to be in a U.S. cumulative loss position during the three year
period ending in December 31, 2016, which is considered to be a significant piece of negative evidence.

Based on these factors, most notably the projected three year cumulative loss, the Company is not recognizing a tax
benefit for the portion of the projected 2016 tax loss that cannot be realized with a carryback claim for a refund of
taxes paid in prior years and therefore increased our valuation allowance.

Loss in non-marketable equity interest—-For the three months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015 the Company had a
loss of $5.7 million and $0.04 million, respectively. In December 2014, Company entered into a joint venture
agreement which formed Lift Ventures LLC. The joint venture was formed to manufacture and sell certain products
and components, including the Company's Schaeff electric forklift business, which was operated by the Company's
Liftking subsidiary and certain other Liftking products. One of the other partners in the joint venture contributed
design services which were to be used to develop additional new products for the joint venture.  As a result of the sale
in the third quarter of the Company's Liftking subsidiary, Lift Ventures LLC will no longer have the right to sell
Schaeff and Liftking products in the future.  Additionally, as a result of certain financial difficulties experienced by
the partner who was to contribute design services, it will not be able to provide such services.  As a result of the these
events, the Company has determined that its investment in the Lift Ventures has become impaired and has recognized
a charge of $5.7 million to write off its entire investment in Lift Ventures LLC during the quarter ended September
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30, 2016.

Net (loss) from continuing operations —For the three months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015 the Company had a
net loss of $5.6 million and $0.6 million, respectively.  The change is explained above.

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2016 Compared to Nine Months Ended September 30, 2015

Net (loss) from continuing operations for the nine month periods ended September 30, 2016 and 2015

For the nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015 the Company had a net loss from continuing operations of
$12.0 million and $0.3 million, respectively.

For the nine months ended September 30, 2016 the net loss of $12.0 million consisted of revenue of $ 260.7 million,
cost of sales of $217.0 million, research and development costs of $3.9 million, SG&A expenses of $37.8 million,
interest expense of $8.7 million, interest expense related to write off of debt issuance costs of $1.4 million, foreign
currency transaction loss of $0.8 million, other income of $3.1 million, loss of $5.8 million in a non-marketable equity
investment and income tax expense of $0.4 million.
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For the nine months ended September 30, 2015, the net loss of $0.3 million consisted of revenue of $276.8 million,
cost of sales of $225.4 million, research and development costs of $3.9 million, SG&A expenses of $38.9 million,
interest expense of $8.9 million, foreign currency transaction gains of $0.2 million, loss of $0.1 million in a
non-marketable equity investment, other expense of $0.1 million and income tax benefit of $0.1 million.

Net revenues and gross profit —For the nine months ended September 30, 2016, net revenues and gross profit were
$260.7 million and $43.8 million, respectively. Gross profit as a percent of revenues was 16.8% for the nine months
ended September 30, 2016. For the nine months ended September 30, 2015, net revenues and gross profit were $276.8
million and $51.4 million, respectively. Gross profit as a percent of revenues was 18.6% for the nine months ended
September 30, 2015.

Net revenues decreased $16.1 million or 5.8% to $260.7 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 from
$276.8 million for the comparable period in 2015.  Revenues for the Lifting and ASV segments decreased by $6.0
million and $12.4 million or by 3.4% and 13.6%, respectively.  Revenues for Equipment Distribution segment
increased by $2.4 million or 22.7%.  The 2016 results for Lifting segment includes a completed first quarter of
revenues for PM Group, compared to seventy five days from the date of acquisition in the three months ended March
31, 2015.  PM revenues for the first 15 days of 2015 were approximately $3.3 million.  Taking this effect into account
the Lifting segment revenues would have decreased by $19.4 million or 10.7%

All the product lines within the Lifting segment, except for the container handling product line, experienced year over
year revenues declines.  The decline in revenues is attributed to the effect that lower oil prices is having on our
markets.  The container product line revenues are not impacted by oil prices and increased by approximately 6.9%
year over year.  

ASV revenues decline is attributable to a $9.5 million reduction in sales of undercarriages and parts to Caterpillar and
5.5% decrease in machine sales.  The decrease in sales to Caterpillar is due to a slowdown in the Caterpillar
production volumes of multi-terrain track loaders that use our undercarriage.  A decrease in private labeled products is
the principal reason for the decline in machine sales.  ASV continues to expand its own dealer network and is
becoming less dependent on private labeled products.  Approximately 80% of the machine sales for the three months
ended September 30, 2016 were through ASV managed distribution.  

Equipment Distribution segment revenue increase is primarily the result of the sale of equipment made during the first
quarter of 2016 which was sold at zero margin with purpose of expanding the segment’s rental fleet operations and the
segment’s concerted effort during the third quarter to sell inventory it held via price concessions to facilitate the sale.  

Our gross profit percent decreased 1.8% to 16.8% for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 from 18.67% for the
nine months ended September 30, 2015.  The decrease in gross margin percent is attributed to decrease gross margin
percent in both the Lifting and Equipment Distribution segments partially offset by a marginally higher gross profit
percent for the ASV segment. The gross profit percent for the Lifting segment was adversely impacted by decreased
volume, less favorable product mix and a more aggressive pricing environment.  The Equipment Distribution segment
margin decrease is principally due to the sale of equipment at zero margin during the first quarter and sale of
equipment sold at lower margins during the third quarter to move equipment that was held by the segment.
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ASV gross margin percent improved modestly due to a favorable mix of higher capacity machines versus lower sales
of skid steer machines that have a lower average gross profit percent, as well as improved net pricing from increased
sales into the ASV distribution channel.  The margin percent also benefited from our cost reduction efforts which
resulted in favorable purchase price variances and lower warranty costs.     

Research and development —Research and development was $3.9 million for the nine months ended September 30,
2016 compared to $3.9 million for the same period in 2015.  

Selling, general and administrative expense —Selling, general and administrative expense for the nine months ended
September 30, 2016 was $37.8  million compared to $38.9 million for the comparable period in 2015, a decrease of
$1.1 million.  The decrease is related to a decrease in selling, general and administrative expenses for the third quarter
2016 compared to the third 2015 which is explained above.  

Operating income —For the nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015 the Company had operating income of
$2.1 million and $8.5 million, respectively.   The adverse change in operating income is the result of decrease in gross
profit of $7.6 million, the result of decreased in revenues and lower gross profit margin.  The decrease in gross margin
was partially offset by a $1.2 million decrease in operating expenses.  
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Interest expense —Interest expense was $8.7 million (excluding write off deferred financing costs) and $8.9 million for
the nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015.  Interest expense decreased as the favorable impact that resulted
from a decrease in debt was partially offset by increased interest rates for our United States credit facilities (during the
first six months of 2016) and for the ASV term loan.

Interest expense included an additional $1.4 million for deferred financing costs which were expensed as associated
debt was refinanced in the second quarter of 2016.

Foreign currency transaction losses and gains —For the nine months ended September 30, 2016, the Company had a
foreign currency loss of $0.8 million compared to a gain of $0.2 million for the comparable period in 2015.  As stated
in the past, the Company attempts to purchase forward currency exchange contracts such that the exchange gains and
losses on the assets and liabilities denominated in other than the reporting units’ functional currency will be offset by
the changes in the market value of the forward currency exchange contracts it holds.  Currency risks can be reduced
but not eliminated in part because the Company has not been able to identify a strategy to effectively hedge the
currency risks related to the Argentinian peso.   The Company records at the balance sheet date the forward currency
exchange contracts at their market value with any associated gain or loss being recorded in current earnings as a
currency gain or loss.

A substantial portion of the 2016 loss is attributable to exchange losses related to the Argentinian peso.  As previously
stated, the Company has not been able to identify a strategy to effectively hedge currency risks related to the
Argentinian peso.  The 2016 currency loss also reflects the recognition of deferred loss of $0.2 million related to an
intercompany receivable.  The loss had been previously deferred in other comprehensive income as there was an
intercompany receivable that was not expected to be repaid.  The repayment of the receivable resulted in the
recognition of the previously deferred loss.  

The currency gain for the nine months ended September 30, 2015 is principally related to currency gains at PM from
the first quarter of 2015 which was partially offset by currency losses during the remainder of 2015.        

 Income tax — For the nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015 the Company recorded an income tax expense
(benefit) from continuing operations of $0.5 and $(0.1) million, respectively. The Company’s provision for income
taxes consists of U.S. and foreign taxes in amounts necessary to align the Company’s year-to-date tax provision with
the effective rate that the Company expects to achieve for the full year. The annual effective tax rate from continuing
operations for 2016 (but excluding discrete items), is estimated to be approximately (3.8)%, while the actual annual
effective tax rate for 2015 was 15.4%.

The 2016 estimated annual effective tax rate from continuing operations of (3.8)% is lower than the statutory rate of
35% primarily due to a mix of anticipated earnings both in U.S. and foreign jurisdictions, and projected current year
losses for which no tax benefit is recognized as a result of our increase in the valuation allowance.

In assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets, we evaluate whether it is more likely than not (more than 50%)
that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will be realized. The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is
dependent upon the generation of future taxable income in those periods in which temporary differences become
deductible and/or net operating losses can be utilized. We assess all positive and negative evidence when determining
the amount of the net deferred tax assets that are more likely than not to be realized. This evidence includes, but is not
limited to, prior earnings history, scheduled reversal of taxable temporary differences, tax planning strategies and
projected future taxable income. Significant weight is given to positive and negative evidence that is objectively
verifiable. As of September 30, 2016, we projected to be in a cumulative loss position during the three year period
ending in December 31, 2016, which is considered to be a significant piece of negative evidence.
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Based on these factors, most notably the projected three year cumulative loss, the Company is not recognizing a
portion of the projected 2016 tax loss that cannot be realized with carryback claim for a refund of taxes paid in prior
years and therefore increased our valuation allowance.

Other income— For the nine months ended September 30, 2016, other income of $3.1 million is principally attributed to
two items: (1) the recognition of a gain of $2.2 million on the sale of certain intellectual property (see note 17 for
further details), and (2) the Company recognized a gain of $0.9 million when it calculated the fair market value of a
contingent liability associated with the PM acquisition.  

Loss in non-marketable equity interest—For the nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015 the Company had a
loss of $5.8 million and $0.1 million, respectively.  The increase is due to $5.6 million charge related to Lift Venture
joint venture which was recognized during the three months ended September 30, 2016.  See the three month
discussion above for further details regarding the  charge.
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Net (loss) from continuing operations — For the nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015 the Company had a
net loss of $12.0 million and $0.3 million, respectively.  The change is explained above.

Segment information

Lifting Equipment Segment

Three Months
Ended

September 30,

Nine Months Ended

September 30,
2016 2015 2016 2015

Net revenues $47,854 $54,755 $171,927 $177,974
Operating (loss) income (1) (507 ) 3,053 4,732 9,885
Operating margin -1.1 % 5.6 % 2.8 % 5.6 %

(1)Segment operating income does not include an allocation of corporate expenses. See the Reconciliation to the
Income Statement below.

Net revenues           

Net revenues decreased $6.9 million to $47.9 million for the three months ended September 30, 2016 from $54.8
million for the comparable period in 2015.  A substantial portion of the decrease in revenues for this segment is
attributable to a decrease in sale of our specialized mobile storage tanks, a product line that is particularly sensitive to
U.S. oil production.  The remainder of the decrease is related to a decrease in revenues for our crane products, which
are also impacted but to a lesser degree by lower world oil prices.  The aforementioned decreases were partially offset
by an increase in revenues generated for container handling equipment, which is not sensitive to oil prices.

Net revenues decreased $6.1 million to $171.9 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 from $178.0
million for the comparable period in 2015.  All the product lines within this segment, except for the container handling
product line, experienced year over year revenues declines.  The decline in revenues is attributed to decreased demand
from end markets related in large part to lower oil prices.  The container product line revenues are not impacted by oil
prices and increased by approximately 6.9% year over year.  The 2016 results for this segment includes a complete
first quarter of revenues for PM Group, compared to seventy five days from the date of acquisition in 2015.  PM
revenues for the first 15 days of 2015 were approximately $3.3 million.  

Operating (loss) income and operating margins
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For the three month period operating income decreased approximately $3.6 million to  $(0.5) million for the three
months ended September 30, 2016 or (1.1)% of net revenues from $3.1 million or 5.6% of net revenues for the three
months ended September 30, 2015  The decrease in operating income is attributed to a decrease in gross profit, the
impact of having lower sales revenues and a lower gross profit percentage for 2016 as compared to 2015.  

Operating income of $4.7 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 was equivalent to 2,8% of net
revenues compared to $9.9 million or 5.6% of revenues in the nine months ended September 30, 2015.  As stated
above, the decrease in operating income is attributed to a decrease in gross profit, the impact of having lower sales
revenues and a lower gross profit percentage for 2016 as compared to 2015.  

ASV Segment

Three Months
Ended

September 30,

Nine Months Ended

September 30,
2016 2015 2016 2015

Net revenues $23,011 $26,899 $78,752 $91,162
Operating income 1,699 1,367 4,783 5,320
Operating margin 7.4 % 5.1 % 6.1 % 5.8 %
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Net revenues

Net revenues for the three months ended September 30, 2016 were $23.0 million compared to $26.9 million for the
three months ended September 30, 2015. Net revenues of $23.0 million were $3.9 million lower than the third quarter
of 2015.  The decrease in the ASV segment revenues is principally due to a decrease in machine sales and secondarily
due to a decrease in part sales. The machine sales decrease is due in large part to a decrease in Terex branded units.
Two thirds of the decrease in part sales is attributed to a decrease in part sales to Caterpillar including undercarriages.  
Part sales to Caterpillar especially undercarriage sales have been volatile between periods.

Net revenues for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 were $78.8 million compared to $91.2 million for the
nine months ended September 30, 2015. Net revenues of $78.8 million were $12.4 million lower than the comparable
2015 period.   ASV revenues decline is attributable to a $9.5 million reduction in sales of undercarriages and parts to
Caterpillar and 5.5% decrease in machine sales.  The decrease in sales to Caterpillar is due to a slowdown in the
Caterpillar production volumes of multi-terrain track loaders that use our undercarriage.  A decrease in private labeled
products is the principal reason for the decline in machine sales.  ASV continues to expand its own dealer network and
is becoming less dependent on private labeled products.  Approximately 80% of the machine sales for the three
months ended September 30, 2016 were through ASV managed distribution.  

Operating  income and operating margins

Operating income of $1.7 million for the three months ended September 30, 2016 was equivalent to 7.4% of net
revenues compared to $1.4 million or 5.1% of revenues in the three months ended September 30, 2015.  The
improvement in operating income is attributable to a decrease in operating expenses which more than offset a decrease
in gross profit of $0.2 million.  The decrease in gross profit is entirely attributed to a decrease in revenues as the gross
profit percent improved modestly.  The decrease in operating expenses is principally due to a $0.5 million favorable
adjustment to the reserve for accrued product liability claims.

For the nine month period operating income decreased approximately $0.5 million to  $4.8 million for the nine months
ended September 30, 2016 or 6.1% of net revenues from $5.3 million or 5.8% of net revenues for the nine months
ended September 30, 2015.  The decrease in operating profit is attributed to a decrease in gross profit of $1.4 million
offset by a decrease in operating expense of $0.9 million.  The decrease in gross profit is entirely attributed to a
decrease in revenues as the gross profit percent improved modestly.  The decrease in operating expenses includes a
$0.5 million favorable adjustment to the reserve for accrued product liability claims. Approximately half of the
remaining decrease of $0.4 million is the result of lower Terex distribution and cross marketing and Service
agreement charges, the result of lower sales of Terex branded product.  The remaining  $0.2 is attributable to various
other items.  

Equipment Distribution Segment

Three Months
Ended

Nine Months Ended
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September 30, September 30,
2016 2015 2016 2015

Net revenues $3,662 $2,953 $12,711 $10,363
Operating (loss) income (270 ) (231 ) (1,568 ) 10
Operating margin -7.4 % -7.8 % -12.3 % 0.1 %

Net revenues

Net revenues increased $0.7 million to $3.7 million for the three months ended September 30, 2016 from $3.0 million
for the comparable period in 2015.  The increase in Equipment Distribution sales is principally due to increased
machine sales.  The segment has made a concerted effort to sell inventory it held and on occasion has made price
concessions to facilitate the sale.          

Net revenues increased $2.3 million to $12.7 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 from $10.4
million for the comparable period in 2015.  The Equipment Distribution segment revenue increase is primarily the
result of the sale of equipment made during the first quarter of 2016 which was sold with purpose of expanding the
segment’s rental fleet operations and the segment’s concerted effort during the third quarter to sell inventory it held.  
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Operating (loss) income and operating margins

The Equipment Distribution segment had an operating loss of $0.3 million and $0.2 million for the three months
ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively.  The operating loss for two periods as a percent of revenue is
roughly comparable.  The 2016 period did not benefit from the increased revenues as equipment was sold at reduced
margins in 2016.

The Equipment Distribution segment had an operating loss of $1.6 million and income of $0.01 million for the nine
months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively.  The expanded operating loss in 2016 is attributable to a
decrease in gross margin of $1.2 million.  Although sales increase between years, gross margin declined principally
due to the sale of equipment at zero margin during the first quarter and sale of equipment sold at lower margins during
the third quarter to move equipment that was held by the segment.

Reconciliation to Statement of (loss) income:

Three Months
Ended

September 30,

Nine Months Ended

September 30,
2016 2015 2016 2015

Revenues:
Lifting Equipment $47,854 $54,755 $171,927 $177,974
ASV 23,011 26,899 78,752 91,162
Equipment Distribution 3,662 2,953 12,711 10,363
Elimination of intersegment sales (396 ) (131 ) (2,684 ) (2,687 )
Total $74,131 $84,476 $260,706 $276,812

Three Months
Ended

September 30,

Nine Months
Ended

September 30,
2016 2015 2016 2015

Operating (loss) income:
Lifting Equipment $(507 ) $3,053 $4,732 $9,885
ASV 1,699 1,367 4,783 5,320
Equipment Distribution (270 ) (231 ) (1,568) 10
Corporate expenses (1,922) (2,267) (5,898) (6,669)
Change in intersegment profit in inventory elimination 39 36 15 (59 )
Total $(961 ) $1,958 $2,064 $8,487
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

Cash and cash equivalents were $6.0 million at September 30, 2016 compared to $8.6 million at December 31, 2015.
In addition, the Company entered into a revolving credit facility on July 20, 2016, which matures on July 20, 2019.
The Company had approximately $6.6 million available under the credit facility on September 30,
2016.  Additionally, ASV has a revolving credit facility, which is for its sole use.  ASV has a revolving credit facility
with approximately $5.9 million of availability.

At September 30, 2016, CVS had established demand credit facilities with twelve Italian banks. Under the facilities,
CVS can borrow up to €0.3 million ($0.4 million) on an unsecured basis and additional amounts as advances against
orders, invoices and letter of credit with a total maximum facilities (including the unsecured portion) of €22.1 million
($24.9 million). The maximum amount outstanding is limited to 80% of the assigned accounts receivable if there is an
invoice issued or 50% if there is an order/contract. The banks will evaluate each request to borrow individually and
determine the allowable advance percentage and interest rate. In making its determination the bank considers the
customer’s credit and location of the customer. At September 30, 2016, the banks had advanced CVS €12.2 million
($13.8 million) and had issued performance bonds which total €2.5 million ($2.9 million), which also count against the
maximum that can be borrowed under these facilities.

At September 30, 2016, the PM Group had established working capital facilities with seven Italian and six South
American banks. Under these facilities, the PM Group can borrow $26.7 million against orders, invoices and letters of
credit. At September 30, 2016, the PM Group had received advances of $19.9 million. Future advances are dependent
on having available collateral.

For the nine months ended September 30, 2016, term debt repayments of $11.0 million were made.

During the nine months ended September 30, 2016, total debt (before the offset of deferred bank fees) increased by
$2.4 million to $169.3 million at September 30, 2016 from $166.9 million at December 31, 2015.
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The following is a summary of the net increase in our indebtedness from December 31, 2015 to September 30, 2016:

Facility

Increase/

(decrease)
U.S. Revolver $(5.1)million
Note payable—bank (insurance premiums) 0.1 million
Comerica Term loan (2.2)million
Note payable—Terex (0.3)million
Capital leases-buildings (0.1)million
Capital leases-equipment (0.2)million
Convertible note—related party 0.1 million
Convertible note—Perella — million
ASV Term loan (5.5)million
ASV Revolving Credit Facility 2.9 million
Sabre notes payable (0.3)million
PM working capital borrowings (See note 13 for details) 4.2 million
PM Term loans (See note 13 for details) (0.5)million
CVS notes payable (0.5)million
CVS working capital borrowings 9.8 million

$2.4 million
Debt issuance costs — million

$2.4 million

The table above does not include repayment of approximately $8.6 million of Liftking’s debt that was made when the
Subsidiary was sold on September 30, 2016.
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Outstanding borrowings

The following is a summary of our outstanding borrowings at September 30, 2016:

(In millions)

Outstanding

Balance
Interest
Rate

Interest

Paid Principal Payment
U.S Revolver $ 21.4 3.52 % Monthly July 20, 2019 maturity
Note payable bank

   (insurance
premiums)

0.1 3.50% Monthly $0.07 million monthly

Note payable—Terex 1.6 4.50% Semi-Annual $0.04 million interest payment June 19, 2016 and
$1.64 million interest and principle payment on
December 19, 2016

Convertible
note—Terex

6.8 7.5% Semi-Annual December 19, 2019 maturity

Convertible
note—Perella

14.4 7.5% Semi-Annual January 7, 2021 maturity

ASV revolving credit
facility

15.3 4.5% Monthly December 19, 2019 maturity

ASV Term loan 32.5 11.5% Monthly $0.50 million quarterly plus interest unpaid
balance due December 19, 2019

Capital lease—cranes
for sale

0.6 4.4 to 5.6% Monthly Over 48 or 60 months

Capital
lease—Georgetown

   facility

5.3 12.50% Monthly $0.06 million monthly payment includes interest

Acquisition note—Valla 0.1 1.5% Annually $0.1 in 2016
Capital leases—Winona

   facility

0.5 n.a Final Payment To be paid in 2017

PM unsecured
borrowings

15.9 2.20 % Semi-Annual Variable semi-annual starting June 2019 through
December 2021

PM Autogru term
loan

0.5 3.00% Monthly $0.09 million monthly through October 2020

PM Autogru term
loan

0.5 2.50% Annually $0.5 million payment due October 2016

PM term loans with
related

   accrued interest,
interest

   rate swaps and
FMV

15.6 0 to 2.66% Semi-Annual Variable semi-annual starting June 2016 through
December 2022. Payments scheduled for 2016
total $3 million
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   adjustments
PM short-term
working

   capital borrowings

20.3 1.45 to 30.0% Monthly Upon payment of invoice

CVS notes payable 4.1 0.50 to 3.65% Quarterly/Semi

Annual

Over 12 quarters and 19 semi-annual payments

CVS short-term
working

   capital borrowings

13.8 2.72 to 6.70% Monthly Upon payment of invoice or letter of credit

$ 169.3
Debt issuance costs (2.6 )

Debt net of issuance
costs $ 166.7

Future availability under credit facilities

As stated above, the Company had cash of $6.0 million and approximately $6.6 million available to borrow under its
North American credit facilities.  ASV has a revolving credit facility with approximately $5.9 million of availability
which is for its sole use.

CVS and the PM Group have their own working capital facilities. As stated above, any future advances against the
Italian facilities are dependent on having available collateral. Additionally, the Company is permitted to make limited
advances to the Italian operations if needed under the Company’s credit facilities.

The Company needs cash to fund normal working capital needs and to make scheduled debt payments as shown in the
above table. Both the United States credit facilities are asset based. The maximum the Company may borrow under
either facility is the lower of the credit line or the available collateral, as defined in the credit agreements. Collateral
under the agreements consists of stated percentages of eligible accounts receivable and inventory.
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Under the collateral formulas in the credit facilities inventory collateral is equal to a stated percent of eligible
inventory (generally ranging from 50% to 65%) and caps total borrowing against our inventory.  If our revenues were
to increase significantly in the future, the provision limiting borrowing against inventory may result in additional cash
constraints. If this were to occur, we would attempt to negotiate higher inventory caps with our banks.  There is,
however, no assurance that the banks would agree to increase the caps.

The Company expects cash flows from operations and existing availability under the current revolving credit
facilities, nevertheless, will be adequate to fund future operations. If in the future, we were to determine that
additional funding is necessary, we believe that it would be available. There is, however, no assurance that such
financing will be available or, if available, on acceptable terms.

We will likely need to raise additional capital through debt or equity financings to fund any future acquisitions.  There
is no assurance that such financing will be available or, if available, on acceptable terms.

2016

Operating activities consumed $15.6 million of cash for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 comprised of net
loss of $20.3 million, non-cash items that totaled $24.4 million and changes in assets and liabilities, which consumed
$19.7 million. The principal non-cash items are loss on sale of discontinued operations of $9.1 million, depreciation
and amortization of $8.9 million, loss in non-marketable equity interest of $5.8 million, amortization of deferred
financing costs of $2.3 million offset by the gain of $2.2 million on disposal of intellectual property. Increases and
decreases in other non-cash items largely netted to a $0.5 million add back.  Cash proceeds from the sale of
discontinued operations and from the sale of intellectual property are included in the investing activities discussion
below.

The change in assets and liabilities consumed $19.7 million.  The changes in assets and liabilities had the following
impact on cash flows: accounts receivable consumed $11.6 million, inventory consumed $4.4 million, prepaid
expenses generated $0.8 million, other assets generated $0.2 million, accounts payable consumed $5.3 million,
accrued expenses consumed $3.1 million, other current liabilities generated $2.4 million, other long-term liabilities
generated $0.3 million, and discontinued operations provided $1.5 million  in cash.  The increase in accounts
receivable is largely due to the $9.1 million increase at CVS.  The increase relates to the timing of cash receipts from
several large customers at CVS.  These payments have been largely collected subsequent to quarter end and, as such,
are deemed collectible at September 30, 2016. The fluctuation in the remaining assets and liabilities are within a range
that would normally be expected to occur.

Investing activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 generated $14.8 million of cash.  The Company
received $14.0 million from the sale of Liftking and $2.2 million when the terminal tractor product line was sold.  The
Company used $1.6 million of cash to purchase machinery and equipment.  Other investing activities netted to $0.2
million in cash generation.

Financing activities consumed $3.5 million in cash for the nine months ended September 30, 2016.  Cash was
consumed by note repayments of $11.0 million, note revolver repayments of $10.7 million, and payment of debt
issuance costs of $1.0 million.  Cash was generated by increases in borrowing under the working capital facilities of
$13.2 million, new borrowings of $3.3 million, and by $4.1 million from a sales and lease back transaction.  Other
financing activities netted to $1.2 million in cash consumption.

2015

Operating activities consumed $5.5 million of cash for the nine months ended September 30, 2015 comprised of net
income of $0.6 million, non-cash items that totaled $11.3 million and changes in assets and liabilities, which
consumed $17.4 million. The principal non-cash items are depreciation and amortization of $9.0 million, share based
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compensation of $1.2 million and amortization of deferred financing costs of $0.8 million. Other non-cash items in
aggregate equal $0.3 million.

The change in assets and liabilities which consumed $17.4 million in cash is principally attributed to paying taxes on
the conversion of ASV to an LLC for which a payable of $16.5 million had been established at December 31, 2014.
Changes in other assets and liabilities consumed an additional $0.9 million.   The changes in assets and liabilities had
the following impact on cash flows: accounts receivable generated $14.1 million, inventory consumed $6.6 million,
prepaid expenses consumed $3.0 million, accounts payable consumed $2.9 million, accrued expenses consumed $4.9
million, other current liabilities generated $0.2 million, and other long-term liabilities generated $2.6 million.  The
decrease in accounts receivable is the result of collecting accounts receivable faster, and due to the fact that sales for
the current quarter are lower when compared to sales for the quarter ended December 31, 2014 when adjusted for a
acquisitions.  Inventory increased as our crane operations built a number of cranes with a value of approximately $3.2
million.   The Company believes having cranes available for immediate shipment in the current market is a
competitive advantage.  The remaining increase was at certain of our other operations whose revenues have increased
or are expected to increase.   The increase in prepaid expenses and other is due to an increase in income tax
receivables, and the increase in unrealized gains associated with forward currency contracts that the Company
holds.  Forward currency contracts are valued at their fair market values at the balance sheet date
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with any gains being included in prepaid expenses and other.  The decrease in accounts payable is due to timing of
vendor payments and raw material purchases.  Together, accrued expenses and other long-term liabilities consumed
$2.3 million of cash.  These two line items are being discussed together as the increase in other long-term liability is
principally due to a reclassifications of liabilities previously included in accrued expenses. The net decrease in accrued
expenses principally relates to a $1.0 million decrease in the provision for management bonuses and changes in other
accrued expense items.

Investing activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2015 consumed $15.7 million of cash including $13.7
million used for the acquisition of businesses and $1.9 million to purchase equipment.  The equipment purchases were
of a routine nature and none of them individually were material.  

Financing activities generated $22.0 million in cash for the nine months ended September 30, 2015. The Company
generated $27.9 million net of expenses to finance the PM acquisition by issuing a $15.0 convertible note and entering
into a $14.0 million term loan. The $14.0 million term debt provides for quarterly principal payment of $0.5 beginning
on April 1, 2015.  At September 30, 2015 the Company has made the scheduled debt due through January 1, 2016 or
$2.0 million.  The Company has made additional payments against the $14.0 million term loan of $4.0 million.  Other
financing activities not discussed, in the aggregate generated $0.1 million of cash.                               

Related Party Transactions

For a description of the Company’s related party transactions, please see Note 17 to the Company’s consolidated
financial statements entitled “Transactions between the Company and Related Parties.”

Critical Accounting Policies

See Item 7, Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Results of Operations and Financial Condition in the Company’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2015, for a discussion of the Company’s other
critical accounting policies.

Impact of Recently Issued Accounting Standards

Recently Issued Pronouncements

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers,” (“ASU 2014-09”). ASU
2014-09 outlines a new, single comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting for revenue arising from
contracts with customers and supersedes most current revenue recognition guidance, including industry-specific
guidance. This new revenue recognition model provides a five-step analysis in determining when and how revenue is
recognized. The new model will require revenue recognition to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to
customers in an amount that reflects the consideration a company expects to receive in exchange for those goods or
services. In August 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-14, deferral of the effective date, which amends ASU
2014-09.  As a result, the effective date is the first quarter of 2018, with early adoption permitted.  The Company is
evaluating the impact that adoption of this guidance will have on the determination or reporting of its financial results.
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In July 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-11, “Simplifying the Measurement of Inventory,” (“ASU 2015-11”). ASU
2015-11 requires inventory be measured at the lower of cost and net realizable value and options that currently exist
for market value be eliminated. ASU 2015-11 defines net realizable value as estimated selling prices in the ordinary
course of business, less reasonably predictable costs of completion, disposal, and transportation. The guidance is
effective for reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2016 and interim periods within those fiscal years with
early adoption permitted. ASU 2015-11 should be applied prospectively. The Company is evaluating the impact
adoption of this guidance will have on determination or reporting of its financial results.

In November 2015, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2015-17 (“ASU 2015-17”), Income Taxes
(Topic 740): Balance Sheet Classification of Deferred Taxes. The amendments in ASU 2015-17 seek to simplify the
presentation of deferred income taxes and require that deferred tax liabilities and assets be classified as noncurrent in a
classified statement of financial position. ASU 2015-17 is effective for financial statements issued for annual periods
beginning after December 15, 2016, and interim periods within those annual periods, with early application permitted
for all entities as of the beginning of an interim or annual reporting period. The Company has not determined the full
impact of implementation of this standard, but believes it will not be material to net income.  The Company believes
that the main impact of adoption of the standard will be the reclassification of current deferred tax assets that will
result in a reduction in deferred tax liabilities.   
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In January 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-01, "Financial Instruments-Overall (Subtopic 825-10): Recognition and
Measurement of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities." The amendments in ASU 2016-01, among other things,
require equity investments (except those accounted for under the equity method of accounting, or those that result in
consolidation of the investee) to be measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in net income; requires
public business entities to use the exit price notion when measuring fair value of financial instruments for disclosure
purposes; requires separate presentation of financial assets and financial liabilities by measurement category and form
of financial asset (i.e., securities or loans and receivables); and eliminates the requirement for public business entities
to disclose the method(s) and significant assumptions used to estimate fair value that is required to be disclosed for
financial instruments measured at amortized cost. The effective date will be the first quarter of fiscal year 2018. The
Company is evaluating the impact the adoption of this new standard will have on its consolidated financial statements.

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, “Leases (Topic 842),” (“ASU 2016-02”) requires lessees to recognize
assets and liabilities for leases with lease terms of more than 12 months and disclose key information about leasing
arrangements. Consistent with current U.S. GAAP, the recognition, measurement, and presentation of expenses and
cash flows arising from a lease by a lessee primarily will depend on its classification as a finance or operating lease.
The update is effective for reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2018. Early adoption is permitted. The
Company is in the process of evaluating the impact of this update on its consolidated financial statements.

In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-05, “Derivatives and Hedging (Topic 815),” (“ASU 2016-05”). ASU 2016-05
provides guidance clarifying that novation of a derivative contract (i.e. a change in counterparty) in a hedge
accounting relationship does not, in and of itself, require designation of that hedge accounting relationship. The
effective date will be the first quarter of fiscal year 2017, with early adoption permitted. Adoption is not expected to
have a material effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-06, “Derivatives and Hedging (Topic 815),” (“ASU 2016-06”). ASU 2016-06
simplifies the embedded derivative analysis for debt instruments containing contingent call or put options by
clarifying that an exercise contingency does not need to be evaluated to determine whether it relates to interest rates
and credit risk in an embedded derivative analysis. The effective date will be the first quarter of fiscal year 2017, with
early adoption permitted. Adoption is not expected to have a material effect on the Company’s consolidated financial
statements.

In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-08, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606) Principal versus
Agent Considerations (Reporting Revenue Gross versus Net),” (“ASU 2016-08”). ASU 2016-08 further clarifies principal
and agent relationships within ASU 2014-09. Similar to ASU 2014-09, the effective date will be the first quarter of
fiscal year 2018 with early adoption permitted in the first quarter of fiscal year 2017. The Company is evaluating the
impact that adoption of this new standard will have on its consolidated financial statements.

In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-09, “Compensation-Stock Compensation (Topic 718), Improvements to
Employee Share-Based Payment Accounting,” (“ASU 2016-09”). ASU 2016-09 is intended to simplify several aspects of
accounting for share-based payment awards. The effective date will be the first quarter of fiscal year 2017, with early
adoption permitted. The Company is evaluating the impact that adoption of this new standard will have on its
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consolidated financial statements.

In April 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-10, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606), Identifying
Performance Obligations and Licensing,” (“ASU 2016-10”).  The amendments in ASU 2016-10 are expected to reduce
the cost and complexity of applying the guidance on identifying promised goods or services in contracts with
customers and to improve the operability and understandability of licensing implementation guidance related to the
entity's intellectual property.  Similar to ASU 2014-09, the effective date will be the first quarter of fiscal year 2018
with early adoption permitted in the first quarter of fiscal year 2017.  The Company is evaluating the impact that
adoption of this new standard will have on its consolidated financial statements.

In April 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-10, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606), Identifying
Performance Obligations and Licensing” (“ASU 2016-10”).  The amendments in ASU 2016-10 are expected to reduce
the cost and complexity of applying the guidance on identifying promised goods or services in contracts with
customers and to improve the operability and understandability of licensing implementation guidance related to the
entity's intellectual property.  Similar to ASU 2014-09, the effective date will be the first quarter of fiscal year 2018
with early adoption permitted in the first quarter of fiscal year 2017.  The Company is evaluating the impact that
adoption of this new standard will have on its consolidated financial statements.

In August 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-15, “Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230) Classification of Certain Cash
Receipts and Cash Payments,” (“ASU 2016-15”).  ASU 2016-15 reduces the existing diversity in practice in financial
reporting by clarifying existing principles in ASC 230, “Statement of Cash Flows,” and provides specific guidance on
certain cash flow classification
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issues.  The effective date for ASU 2016-15 will be the first quarter of fiscal year 2018 with early adoption permitted.
 The Company is evaluating the impact that adoption of this new standard will have on its consolidated financial
statements.

In October 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-16, “Income Taxes (Topic 740) - Intra-Entity Transfer of Assets Other
than Inventory,” (“ASU 2016-16”).  ASU 2016-16 requires recognition of current and deferred income taxes resulting
from an intra-entity transfer of any asset (excluding inventory) when the transfer occurs. This is a change from
existing GAAP which prohibits recognition of current and deferred income taxes until the asset is sold to a third
party.  The effective date for ASU 2016-16 will be the first quarter of fiscal year 2018 with early adoption
permitted. The Company is evaluating the impact that adoption of this new standard will have on its consolidated
financial statements.

Except as noted above, the guidance issued by the FASB is not expected to have a material effect on the Company’s
consolidated financial statements.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

Comerica has issued 2 standby letters of credit at September 30, 2016.  The first standby letter of credit is $0.625
million in favor of an insurance carrier to secure obligations which may arise in connection with future deductibles
payments that may be incurred under Company’s workman compensation insurance policies.  The second standby
letter of credit is $20 thousand in favor of a governmental agency to secure obligations which may arise in connection
with workman compensation claims.

JP Morgan Chase has issued 3 standby letters of credit at September 30, 2016.  The first standby letter of credit is
$0.245 million in favor of an insurance carrier to secure obligations which may arise in connection with future
deductibles payments that may be incurred under Company’s workman compensation insurance policies.  The second
and third standby letters of credit were $0.1 million each for commercial purposes.

Additionally, various Italian banks have issued performance bonds which total €2.5 million ($2.9 million) and none are
guaranteed by the Company.

The Company entered into three 60 month equipment operating leases in a sales and lease back transaction and
received $4.1 million during the first quarter of 2016.  

Item 3—Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

The Company’s market risk disclosures have not materially changed since the 2015 Form 10-K was filed. The
Company’s quantitative and qualitative disclosures about market risk are incorporated by reference from Part II, Item
7A of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, for the year ended December 31, 2015.

Item 4—Controls and Procedures

Disclosure Controls and Procedures
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The Company under the supervision and with the participation of management, including the Chief Executive Officer
(principal executive officer) and the Chief Financial Officer (principal financial officer), evaluated the effectiveness of
our “disclosure controls and procedures” (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”)) as of September 30, 2016.

Based on that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) were effective as of
September 30, 2016 to provide reasonable assurance that (1) information required to be disclosed by us in the reports
we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods
specified in the Securities and Exchange Commission’s rules and forms, and (2) information required to be disclosed
by us in the reports we file or submit under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to our management,
including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding
required disclosures.

The effectiveness of any system of controls and procedures is subject to certain limitations, and, as a result, there can
be no assurance that our controls and procedures will detect all errors or fraud. A control system, no matter how well
conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system
will be attained.
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Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There has been no change in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)
under the Exchange Act) during the quarter ended September 30, 2016 that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

PART II—OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1—Legal Proceedings

The Company is involved in various legal proceedings, including product liability and workers’ compensation matters
which have arisen in the normal course of operations. The Company has product liability insurance with
self-insurance retention that ranges from $50 thousand to $0.5 million. ASV product liability cases that existed on date
of acquisition have a $4 million self-retention limit. The Company has a $250 thousand per claim deductible on
worker compensation claims and aggregates of $1.2 million, $1.3 million, $1.9 million, and $1.6 million for 2013,
2014, 2015 and 2016 policy years, respectively. Certain cases are at a preliminary stage and it is not possible to
estimate the amount or timing of any cost to the Company. However, the Company does not believe that these
contingencies, in the aggregate, will have a material adverse effect on the Company. Reserves have been established
for several liability cases related to the ASV and PM acquisitions. When it is probable that a loss has been incurred
and possible to make a reasonable estimate of the Company’s liability with respect to such matters, a provision is
recorded for the amount of such estimate or the minimum amount of a range of estimates when it is not possible to
estimate the amount within the range that is most likely to occur.

Item 1A—Risk Factors

As of the date of this filing, there have been no material changes from the risk factors disclosed in the Company’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K filed for the year ended December 31, 2015.

Item 2—Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds.

The Company’s credit agreement with Comerica Bank directly restricts the Company’s ability to declare or pay
dividends without Comerica’s consent. In addition, pursuant to the Company’s credit agreement with Comerica and
other lenders, the Company must maintain as specified in the agreements certain fixed coverage ratios and debt to
EBITDA ratios.

ISSUER PURCHASE OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Period (a) Total

Number
of

Shares (or

Units)

(b)
Average

Price
Paid

per
Share (or

(c) Total

Number of

Shares (or

Units)

(d)
Maximum

Number (or

Approximate
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Purchased Unit) Purchased
as

Part of

Publically

Announced

Plans or

Programs

Dollar
Value)

of

Shares (or

Units)

that
May  Yet

Be

Purchased

Under

the Plans or

Programs
July 1—July 31, 2016 — — — —
August 1—August 31, 2016 — — — —
September 1—September 30, 2016 2,254 5.51 — —

2,254 $ 5.51 — —

Item 3—Defaults Upon Senior Securities

None

Item 4—Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.
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Item 5—Other Information

As previously disclosed, on July 20, 2016, the Company and certain of its subsidiaries entered into a Loan and
Security Agreement (as amended, the “Loan Agreement”) with The Private Bank and Trust Company (“Private
Bank”).  The Loan Agreement provides the Company with a revolving credit facility, which has a maturity date of July
20, 2019.  The Loan Agreement was subsequently amended by a First Amendment dated as of August 2, 2016 and a
Second Amendment dated as of September 30, 2016.  

On November 8, 3016, the parties to the Loan Agreement entered into a third amendment to the Loan Agreement (the
“Third Amendment”).  The main modifications to the Loan Agreement resulting from the Third Amendment are as
follows:

•a reduction of the maximum amount of the facility to $30,000 at November 8, 2016, followed by a further facility
reduction to $28,500 at November 30, 2016, followed by a final facility reduction to $25,000 at December 31, 2016;
•the addition of an Adjusted EBITDA covenant for the Company’s domestic subsidiaries (as defined) of $1,500 at
September 30, 2016 and $3,500 for all quarters starting December 31, 2016 through the term of the agreement; and
•the elimination of the testing of the Fixed Charge Coverage ratio covenant for September 30, 2016 and December 31,
2016.

The foregoing description of the Third Amendment is qualified in its entirety by reference to the full text of the Third
Amendment, which is attached as Exhibit 10.4 to this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and incorporated by reference
herein.

Item 6—Exhibits

See the Exhibit Index set forth below for a list of exhibits included with this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit
Number Exhibit Description

2.1 Share Purchase Agreement, dated as of September 30, 2016, by and among Manitex International, Inc.,
Liftking, Inc., Mi-Jack Products, Inc. and Liftking Acquisition ULC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
2.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 3, 2016).

10.1 Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of July 20, 2016, by and among The Private Bank and Trust
Company, as administrative agent and sole lead arranger, Manitex International, Inc., Manitex Inc., Manitex
Sabre, Inc., Badger Equipment Company, Crane and Machinery, Inc., Crane and Machinery Leasing, Inc.,
Lifking, Inc. and Manitex, LLC (as the US Borrowers) and Manitex Liftking, ULC (as the Canadian
Borrower) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed on July 25,
2016).

10.2* First Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of August 4, 2016, by and among Manitex
International, Inc., Manitex Inc., Manitex Sabre, Inc., Badger Equipment Company, Crane and Machinery,
Inc., Crane and Machinery Leasing, Inc., Liftking, Inc., Manitex, LLC and Manitex Liftking, ULC, The
Private Bank and Trust Company and the lenders party thereto.

10.3 Consent and Second Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of September 30, 2016, by and
among Manitex International, Inc., Manitex Inc., Manitex Sabre, Inc., Badger Equipment Company, Crane
and Machinery, Inc., Crane and Machinery Leasing, Inc., Liftking, Inc. and Manitex, LLC, The Private
Bank and Trust Company and the lenders party thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 3, 2016).

10.4* Third Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of November 8, 2016, by and among Manitex
International, Inc., Manitex Inc., Manitex Sabre, Inc., Badger Equipment Company, Crane and Machinery,
Inc., Crane and Machinery Leasing, Inc., and Manitex, LLC, The Private Bank and Trust Company and the
lenders party thereto.

31.1* Certification by the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

31.2* Certification by the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.1* Certification by the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section
1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

101* The following financial information from Manitex International, Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for
the quarter ended September 30, 2016, formatted in XBRL (eXtensible Business Reporting Language): (i)
Statements of Income for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015 (ii) Statement of
Comprehensive Income for nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015 (ii) Balance Sheets as of
September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, (iii) Statements of Cash Flows for the nine months ended
September 30, 2016 and 2015, and (iv) Notes to Unaudited Interim Financial Statements.
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*Filed herewith
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

November 9, 2016

By: /s/ David J. Langevin
David J. Langevin
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

November 9, 2016

By: /s/ David H. Gransee
David H. Gransee
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
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